## The Teichmüller theory of the solenoid

Dragomir Šarić\*

Department of Mathematics Queens College of the City University of New York 65-30 Kissena Blvd. Flushing, NY 11367 dragomir.saric@qc.cuny.edu

2000 Mathematics Subject Classification: 30F60, 30F45, 32H02, 32G05; 30C62

Keywords: Solenoid, inverse limit, baseleaf preserving mapping class group, virtual automorphism, Modular group, Teichmüller space, commensurator, Teichmüller extremal, Whitehead move, triangulation complex.

## Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	The compact solenoid	8
	2.1 The profinite completion	10
	2.2 The $G$ -tagged compact solenoid	11
3	Complex structures and hyperbolic metrics on the compact solenoid	11
4	The G-tagged non-compact solenoid	13
5	The Teichmüller space of the compact solenoid	14
	5.1 The universal coverings of complex compact solenoids	16
	5.2 Beltrami coefficients and holomorphic quadratic differentials on	
	the compact solenoid $\ldots$	17
	5.3 The restriction map $\pi_l$	19

\*Most of the recent results in this chapter were obtained in various collaborations of the author with S. Bonnot, A. Epstein, V. Markovic and R. Penner. I am indebted to them for the insights and efforts in our joint explorations. I am grateful to F. Bonahon, F. Gardiner, W. Goldman, L. Keen, M. Lyubich, J. Millson, J. Milnor, D. Sullivan and S. Wolpert for the various discussion we had regarding the surveyed material. This chapter was written while I was visiting the Department of Mathematics of the University of Maryland. I am grateful to the department for its warm hospitality during my visit.

	.4 The complex Banach manifold structure on $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$	20
6	The Reich-Strebel Inequality	21
$\overline{7}$	The Teichmüller-type extremal maps	26
8	The Modular group of the compact solenoid	32
9	The Teichmüller space of the non-compact solenoid	34
10	The decorated Teichmüller space of the non-compact solenoid $\ldots$	37
11	A presentation for the Modular group of the non-compact solenoid . $\square$	41
12	Elements of $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$ with small non-zero dilatations	48
13	Some open problems	49

## 1 Introduction

The compact solenoid S (also called the universal hyperbolic solenoid) was introduced by Sullivan [43] as the universal object in the category of all pointed, unbranched, finite sheeted coverings of a (base) closed surface of genus at least two (S can be thought of as a "universal closed surface"). The compact solenoid S is independent (as a topological space) of the choice of the base surface in the definition (as long as the genus is at least two).

More explicitly, the compact solenoid S is the inverse limit of the system of all pointed, unbranched, finite sheeted coverings of a closed surface of genus at least two. In fact, the inverse limit of an infinite tower of pointed, unbranched, finite sheeted coverings gives a homeomorphic object as long as the intersection of all fundamental groups in the tower (when considered as subgroups of the fundamental group of the base surface) is trivial. A particularly interesting tower is obtained by defining the *n*-th covering in the tower to have fundamental group equal to the intersection of all subgroups of index at most *n*.

Another description of the compact solenoid S is that it is a principal fiber bundle over a closed surface of genus at least two whose fibers are homeomorphic to a Cantor set with a topological group structure such that the base surface fundamental group is realized as a dense subgroup of the fiber group. If the base surface is given a fixed hyperbolic metric then the compact solenoid is explicitly realized as follows (see Section 2.2 or [37]). Let G be a subgroup of the Möbius group acting on the unit disk  $\mathbf{D}$  which uniformizes the base surface and let  $\omega \subset \mathbf{D}$  be a fundamental polygon for G. Then there exists a Cantor set  $\hat{G}$  with the structure of a topological group and an injective homomorphism  $G \hookrightarrow \hat{G}$  whose image is dense in  $\hat{G}$  (the group  $\hat{G}$  is defined in Section 2 and later in the Introduction). The compact solenoid S is the quotient of  $\omega \times \mathbf{D}$ by the action of finitely many elements of G which pairwise identify the sides of  $\omega$ , where the action of these elements on  $\omega \times \mathbf{D}$  is given by a side pairing

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

Möbius action on the  $\omega$ -factor and by right multiplication in the group  $\hat{G}$  using the identification of G with its image in  $\hat{G}$  (on the  $\hat{G}$ -factor). Thus a neighborhood of a point in the compact solenoid S is given by the product of the open fundamental polygon  $\overset{\circ}{\omega}$  and a Cantor set  $\hat{G}$ . The boundary sides of  $\omega$  are identified with the corresponding boundary sides of  $\omega$  but on different "levels", i.e. the second factors (in  $\hat{G}$ ) are different. If we follow the identifications of a single  $\omega \times \{t\}$ , for a fixed  $t \in \hat{G}$ , in the quotient we approach any point of Sarbitrary close (because the image of G in  $\hat{G}$  is dense).

The compact solenoid S is locally homeomorphic to a 2-disk times a Cantor set; each leaf (i.e. a path component) of S is dense in S and it is homeomorphic to the unit disk; a distinguished leaf of S is called the *baseleaf*. Moreover, Shas a unique transverse measure, i.e. a holonomy invariant measure on each transverse set, which is induced by the Haar measure on the fiber group. The holonomy map is given by the action of the base surface group on the fiber group via its natural identification as a subgroup of the fiber.

We give some motivation for the study of the compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}$ . The Ehrenpreis conjecture [13] states that for any two closed non-conformal Riemann surfaces of the same genus greater than 1 and for any  $\epsilon > 0$  there exist two finite sheeted, unbranched, conformal covers that are  $(1+\epsilon)$ -quasiconformal. Since the universal cover of both surfaces is the unit disk, this is a question whether finite covers approximate the universal cover. Instead of considering two Riemann surfaces at the same time and finding their appropriate finite covers, it is (at least) conceptually more appropriate to have all Riemann surfaces in a single space. The space is the union of properly normalized embeddings in the universal Teichmüller space  $T(\mathbf{D})$  of the Teichmüller spaces of all closed Riemann surfaces covering the base surface. The group of all isomorphisms between finite index subgroups of the fundamental group (called the *commensurator* of the surface group) acts naturally on the above union and the Ehrenpreis conjecture is equivalent to the statement that the action has dense orbits in the union [31]. It is natural to take the closure of the union in the universal Teichmüller space to obtain a Banach manifold and the action of the commensurator extends naturally to the closure [31].

Sullivan noticed the connection with the compact solenoid S: instead of considering Riemann surfaces of different genera as points in a single space  $T(\mathbf{D})$  as well as their limit points in  $T(\mathbf{D})$ , it is natural to form a single topological space (the compact solenoid S) using all finite coverings of a base surface and to express Riemann surfaces of different genus as well as their limit points in  $T(\mathbf{D})$  as different complex structures on the compact solenoid S. Then the Ehrenpreis conjecture is equivalent to the statement that the action of the commensurator group  $\operatorname{Comm}(\pi_1(S))$  of the base surface group

 $\pi_1(S)$  on the Teichmüller space T(S) of the compact solenoid S has dense orbits [5], [31].

C. Odden [37] showed that the Modular group  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S})$  of the compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}$  is isomorphic to the commensurator group  $\operatorname{Comm}(\pi_1(\mathcal{S}))$  of the fundamental group  $\pi_1(S)$  of the base surface S. This is in an analogy with the classical statement that the group of outer isomorphisms of the closed surface group is the mapping class group of the surface [8], [32], [2]. Thus, the compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}$  is a natural space for which the commensurator group is its Modular group. From the group theoretic point of view, the Modular group  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}) \equiv \operatorname{Comm}(\pi_1(S))$  is describing the "hidden symmetries" of the surface group [25].

We are also interested in studying complex structures on the compact solenoid S from the view point of the complex analytic theory of Teichmüller spaces. The Teichmüller space T(S) is a first example of a Teichmüller space which is an infinite-dimensional but separable complex Banach manifold. Recall that Teichmüller spaces of Riemann surfaces are either finite dimensional complex manifolds or infinite-dimensional non-separable Banach manifolds. It appears that the complex analytic and the metric structure of T(S) is quite different from the Teichmüller spaces of geometrically finite as well as infinite Riemann surfaces. Inverse limit spaces commonly appear in dynamics [43], [44], [23], [30] and the compact solenoid is a first non-trivial example of an inverse limit with interesting Teichmüller space.

The non-compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_{nc}$  (also called the punctured solenoid) is the inverse limit of the system of all pointed, unbranched, finite sheeted coverings of a base punctured surface with negative Euler characteristic [36]. The covering surfaces are punctured with the covering maps sending punctures to punctures. If we fill in the punctures, the covering maps become finitely branched at the punctures. Therefore, the branching in the covering tower is restricted by allowing it only over the punctures of the base surface (unlike for towers of rational maps where branching appears to be "wild" [23]). The inverse limit  $S_{nc}$ is a non-compact space because we do not include the backward orbits of punctures in the space, each leaf is homeomorphic to the unit disk **D** and the ends of each leaf are universal covers of neighborhoods of punctures on surfaces, i.e. the ends are horoballs with the induced non-standard topology. The analog of the Ehrenpreis conjecture for punctured surfaces asks whether every two finite Riemann surfaces have finite covers which are  $(1 + \epsilon)$ -quasiconformal. This is equivalent to the statement that the Modular group  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  has dense orbits in the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_{nc}$ . In analogy to the compact case, the Modular group  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  is isomorphic to a subgroup of the commensurator of the base punctured surface group which preserves the peripheral elements [36]. The existence of ends of leaves allows

for a combinatorial decomposition of the (decorated) Teichmüller space of  $S_{nc}$ [36] which gives a better understanding of the Modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid than of the Modular group of the compact solenoid S.

In this chapter, we survey results on the Teichmüller space T(S) of the compact solenoid S regarding its metric structure with respect to the Teichmüller metric and its complex structure. We also survey results on the Modular group Mod(S) of the compact solenoid S and the Modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$ . We give more details below.

In Section 2 we give different equivalent definitions of the compact solenoid S. In addition to defining S as an inverse limit space, we define it as a principal fiber bundle space as follows. For a fixed Fuchsian group G uniformizing a closed Riemann surface of genus at least two, we define a profinite group completion  $\hat{G}$  of G with respect to the profinite metric. The profinite metric on G is defined by [37]

$$d_{pf}(A,B) = e^{-\frac{1}{n}}$$

where  $AB^{-1}$  is an element of all subgroups of G of index at most n, and there exists a subgroup of G of index n + 1 which does not contain  $AB^{-1}$ . Then the G-tagged compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_G$  is the quotient of  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  by an action of G, where G acts by Möbius maps on the unit disk component  $\mathbf{D}$  and shifts the levels by acting on  $\hat{G}$  by right translation in the group. The G-tagged solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_G$  is homeomorphic to the compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}$ . The natural map from  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  to the Riemann surface  $\mathbf{D}/G$  obtained by "forgetting" the second coordinate and by mapping the first coordinate to its orbit under G projects to a map from the quotient  $(\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G})/G = \mathcal{S}_G$  onto  $\mathbf{D}/G$ ; the fibers of the map are homeomorphic to  $\hat{G}$ . Thus  $\mathcal{S}_G$  is a  $\hat{G}$ -fiber bundle over  $\mathbf{D}/G$ .

A complex structure on the compact solenoid S is by definition an atlas whose transition maps when restricted to local leaves are holomorphic and are continuous for the transverse variations of local leaves [43]. Candel [7] proved a uniformization theorem for laminations which, in particular, implies that each transversely continuous conformal structure on S has a unique transversely continuous hyperbolic metric representative. The compact solenoid S is a fiber bundle over a closed surface such that the restriction to any leaf of the fiber map is the universal covering of the base surface. Thus, any complex structure on the base surface lifts to a complex structure on the compact solenoid S. Such a complex structure has a sub-atlas where the transition maps are constant in the transverse directions. Nag and Sullivan [31] showed that every such complex structure is obtained by forming a G-tagged solenoid  $S_G$ , for some uniformizing Fuchsian group G of a closed Riemann surface (see Section 3 for more details). The G-tagged punctured solenoid is formed similarly by using the punctured Riemann surface uniformizing Fuchsian group G (see Section 4).

The Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  of the compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_G$  consists of all marked complex solenoids  $f : \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}$  up to post-composition by conformal maps and up to homotopy, where G is fixed and f is a differentiable, quasiconformal map (see Definitions 5.1 and 5.3). (Equivalently, the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is a quotient of the space of smooth Beltrami coefficients on  $\mathcal{S}_G$  continuous in the transverse directions.) The Teichmüller distance of  $[f] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ to the basepoint  $[id] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is the infimum of the logarithm of the quasiconformal constants of maps in the homotopy class [f]. The Teichmüller metric is not degenerate, namely  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is a Hausdorff space (see [43]; see Section 5 for an alternative proof).

The restrictions of complex structures on the marked solenoids  $f : S_G \to \mathcal{X}$  to the baseleaf l of  $S_G$  defines a map  $\pi_l : T(S_G) \to T(\mathbf{D})$ . This map is a homeomorphism onto its image (a proof is sketched in [43]; see Section 5.2 for an alternative proof). In fact, a consequence of Theorem 7.1 and McMullen's solution [29] to the Kra's conjecture is that  $\pi_l$  is a bi-Lipschitz map onto its image with constant 1/3.

The study of the Teichmüller metric on  $T(S_G)$  starts with the Reich-Strebel inequality (see [41] and Section 6) which estimates the (complex) distortion (i.e. the Beltrami coefficient) of a quasiconformal self-map of the compact solenoid  $S_G$  which is homotopic to the identity in terms of the leafwise Euclidean structures given by the restrictions of holomorphic quadratic differentials on the leaves of  $S_G$ . The Reich-Strebel inequality is a non-trivial generalization of Grötzsch's length-area method for determining extremal maps between rectangles. In this chapter we give a different proof of the Reich-Strebel inequality from the proof in [41] (see Theorem 6.1 and its proof).

The consequences of the Reich-Strebel inequality give a better understanding of the Teichmüller metric on  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ . In Section 6, we summarize consequences related to infinitesimal structure of  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  from [41]. In particular, a Beltrami differential is tangent to a trivial path of Beltrami coefficients (i.e. it represents a trivial infinitesimal deformation) if and only if it is zero when paired with all holomorphic quadratic differentials on  $\mathcal{S}_G$  (see Theorem 6.2). In section 7, we analyze extremal maps in a given homotopy (Teichmüller) class. A consequence of the Reich-Strebel inequality is that Teichmüller-type maps (i.e. vertical stretch maps in the natural parameter of a holomorphic quadratic differential on  $\mathcal{S}_G$ ) are extremal in their corresponding homotopy (Teichmüller) classes (see Theorem 7.1). Moreover, the natural inclusion map from the Teichmüller space of a closed surface into  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  obtained by lifting a complex structure on the surface to  $\mathcal{S}_G$  is an isometry (see Corollary 7.3). We also give an account of the question of the existence of the Teichmüllertype extremal maps in a given Teichmüller class considered in a joint work of the author with A. Epstein and V. Markovic [14]. The results for Riemann surfaces fall into two cases; either every point in the Teichmüller space has a Teichmüller-type representative for closed and finite punctured surfaces-Teichmüller's theorem, or an open, dense subset of the Teichmüller space has Teichmüller-type representatives for geometrically infinite surfaces [21]. Therefore, in both cases, at least a large subset of the Teichmüller space has Teichmüller-type representatives. For the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  of the compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_G$  the situation is quite different. In fact, a generic point in  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  does not have Teichmüller-type representatives, i.e. only a set of the first kind in  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  in the sense of Baire has Teichmüller-type representatives (see [14], or Theorem 7.4 together with a brief account of the proof.) We also give a necessary condition for a point in  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  to have a Teichmüller-type representative (see [14], or Corollary 7.5).

In Section 8, we survey basic results on the Modular group (see [37], [27]). The Modular group  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is isomorphic to the commensurator group of the base surface group (see [37] or Theorem 8.3). In a joint work with V. Markovic, we established that there exist orbits of  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_G)$  in  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  with accumulation points [27]; and that finite subgroups of  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_G)$  are cyclic and mapping class like (i.e. they are lifts of self-maps of closed surfaces) [27].

In Section 9, we give a quasiconformal definition of the Teichmüller space  $T(S_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$  and an equivalent representationtheoretic definition from our joint work with R. Penner (see [36]). In Section 10, we define the decorated Teichmüller space  $\tilde{T}(S_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$  and give its parametrization in terms of lambda lengths (see our work with R. Penner [36] or Theorem 10.3). We also describe a convex hull construction for decorations on the punctured solenoid and show that a dense, open subset of  $\tilde{T}(S_{nc})$  is combinatorially interesting (see [36] or Theorem 10.6 for the punctured solenoid; for punctured surfaces see [15], [34]; see [33] for the universal Teichmüller space; see [20] for a related construction for punctured surfaces).

In Section 11, we give a generating set for  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  in terms of Whitehead homeomorphisms and  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  (see our work with R. Penner [36] or theorems 11.3, 11.4 and 11.5). Moreover, we define a natural triangulation 2-complex, show that it is connected and simply connected, and show that the Modular group  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  acts cellularly on it (see our joint work with S. Bonnot and R. Penner [6] or Theorem 11.6). Using the triangulation complex, we give a presentation for  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  (see [6] or Theorem 11.7).

## 2 The compact solenoid

In this section we give two equivalent definitions of the compact solenoid S which is usually called the universal hyperbolic solenoid [43], [31], [37].

Let  $(S_0, x_0)$  be a fixed closed surface of genus at least two with basepoint  $x_0$ . Consider all finite degree, unbranched, pointed covers  $\pi_i : (S_i, x_i) \to (S_0, x_0)$  up to isomorphisms of covers. The family of such covers has a natural partial ordering " $\leq$ " defined by

$$(\pi_i, S_i, x_i) \le (\pi_j, S_j, x_j)$$

if there exists a pointed, unbranched, finite degree cover  $\pi_{i,j} : (S_j, x_j) \to (S_i, x_i)$  such that

$$\pi_j = \pi_i \circ \pi_{i,j}.$$

Given two arbitrary covers  $\pi_i : (S_i, x_i) \to (S_0, x_0)$  and  $\pi_j : (S_j, x_j) \to (S_0, x_0)$  from the above family, there exists a third cover  $\pi_k : (S_k, x_k) \to (S_0, x_0)$  such that  $(\pi_i, S_i, x_i), (\pi_j, S_j, x_j) \leq (\pi_k, S_k, x_k)$ . Namely, the family of all covers  $\pi_i : (S_i, x_i) \to (S_0, x_0)$  is inverse directed; thus the inverse limit of the family is well defined. Sullivan [43] introduced the *compact solenoid*  $\mathcal{S}$  by

$$S = \lim(S_i, x_i).$$

By definition,  $S \subset \prod_{i \in I} S_i$ , where *I* is the index set of coverings, consists of all  $y = (y_i)_{i \in I} \in \prod_{i \in I} S_i$  such that whenever  $(S_i, x_i) \leq (S_j, x_j)$  then  $\pi_{i,j}(y_j) = y_i$ . The product space  $\prod_{i \in I} S_i$  is compact in the Tychonov topology because each  $S_i$  is compact. The subset S is closed in  $\prod_{i \in I} S_i$  and therefore it is also a compact space.

The compact solenoid S is universal in the sense that it does not depend on the base surface  $S_0$ . Namely, if we take the inverse limit of all finite degree unbranched covers of another closed surface  $S'_0$  of genus at least two then it is homeomorphic to S. (This follows from the fact that the inverse limit of any given cofinal subsystem of covers is homeomorphic to the inverse limit of the original system of covers. Recall that a subsystem of covers is *cofinal* if any surface in the original system is covered by a surface of the subsystem.) To show that S is independent of the base surface, it is enough to note that any two such inverse systems of covers have homeomorphic cofinal subsystems because there exist two surfaces in these two systems that are homeomorphic.

The universal property of the compact solenoid enables us to consider a tower of covers of a closed surface of genus at least two instead of all finite covers (as long as the intersection of all fundamental groups in the tower when identified via pointed covers with subgroups of the base surface is the trivial group; this is required for a tower to be cofinal by the residual finiteness of the base surface group). For example, we can consider the system of covers given by the tower of covers whose n-th level surface has fundamental group equal to the intersection of all index at most n subgroups of the base surface (see [37]). The choice of the subgroup at the n-th level uniquely (up to isomorphism)

determines the pointed cover of the base surface. For each m > n the group at level m is a subgroup of the group at level n. Thus the system of covers is

a tower and its inverse limit is homeomorphic to  $\mathcal{S}$ .

For convenience, we work with the above tower of covers from now on. Thus we can replace the index set I for the covers by the natural numbers  $\mathbb{N}$ , where  $\pi_j: S_j \to S_0$  factors through a cover  $\pi_i: S_i \to S_0$  if and only if j > i. Then a point y in S is given by a backward sequence  $y = (y_0, y_1, y_2, \ldots)$ with respect to the tower of covers, namely  $y_i \in S_i$  and  $\pi_{i,i+1}(y_{i+1}) = y_i$ for  $i \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ . A neighborhood of a point in S is homeomorphic to a (2disk (Cantor set). To see this, note that by the definition of the Tychonov topology a neighborhood of a point  $y = (y_0, y_1, y_2, ...)$  in  $\prod_{i \in \mathbb{N}} S_i$  is the set V(y) consisting of all  $z = (z_0, z_1, z_2, ...)$  such that each  $z_i$  is in a small ball  $U_i(y_i)$  with center  $y_i \in S_i$  for all  $i < i_0$ , with  $i_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  fixed, and the rest of the coordinates of z are arbitrary. If  $y \in \mathcal{S}$  then a neighborhood  $V(y) \subset \mathcal{S}$  is given by successively taking a single lift  $U_i(y_i) \subset S_i$  of a ball  $U_0(y_0) \subset S_0$  for all  $i < i_0$ , where  $i_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  is fixed, and the rest of the coordinates of the points in V(y) belong to all lifts  $\pi_i^{-1}(U_0)$  such that  $\pi_{i,i_0}$  maps them into  $U_{i_0}$ , for  $i \ge i_0$ . The lifts to the tower  $\{S_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$  of a ball in  $S_0$  are enumerated by the locally finite tree of all possibilities of lifts from  $S_i$  to  $S_{i+1}$  for  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . The local structure of  $\mathcal{S}$  is given by taking a 2-disk for each infinite path (without backtracking) in the tree with the induced product topology, where the 2-disk has the standard topology, and points in two 2-disks for two different infinite paths are close if they are close as points in the 2-disk and if the infinite paths follow the same finite paths for a long time. The set of all infinite paths without backtracking is a Cantor set and we have completely described the local structure of  $\mathcal{S}$ .

A path component of S is called a *leaf*. A *local leaf* is a path component in any local chart of the above form  $(2\text{-disk}) \times (\text{Cantor set})$ , namely a local leaf is a 2-disk. Therefore, a (global) leaf of the compact solenoid S is a surface. There is a natural projection  $\Pi_i : S \to S_i$ , for  $i \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ , to any surface in the tower of covers given by

$$\Pi_i(y_0, y_1, y_2, \ldots) = y_i$$

for  $y = (y_0, y_1, y_2, \ldots) \in S$ . Since the intermediate covers  $\pi_{i,i+1}$  in the tower are unbranched, the restriction of the projection  $\Pi_i$  to each leaf is an unbranched covering. We claim that each leaf is simply connected. If a leaf of

S is not simply connected, then a closed curve which is not homotopic to a point maps under each  $\Pi_i$  to a curve on  $S_i$  which is not homotopic to a point. However, the covers in the tower are chosen so that each closed homotopically non-trivial curve on any surface cannot be lifted to a closed curve in a high enough cover. (If one considers all finite covers in the definition of S, this follows because the fundamental group of  $S_0$  is residually finite.) Thus each leaf is a simply connected unbranched cover of closed surfaces. Namely, each leaf of S is homeomorphic to the unit disk and the restriction of the natural projection to each leaf is the universal covering map.

## 2.1 The profinite completion

Denote by G the fundamental group of  $S_0$ . We define the profinite metric on G as follows. Let  $G_n$  be the intersection of all subgroups of G of index at most n. There are only finitely many such subgroups and their intersection  $G_n$  is also of finite index. (It is possible that  $G_n = G_{n+1}$  for some n and we ignore the repeating groups.) From now on,  $\{G_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is a sequence of decreasing (as sets) subgroups of G of finite index. Each  $G_n$  is a characteristic subgroup of G and in particular a normal subgroup. Since G is residually finite, it follows that  $\bigcap_{n\in\mathbb{N}}G_n = \{id\}$ . We define the *profinite distance* of  $A, B \in G$  by

$$d_{pf}(A,B) = e^{-\frac{1}{n}},$$

where  $AB^{-1} \in G_n - G_{n+1}$ . In particular, an element of G is close to the identity in the profinite metric  $d_{pf}$  if it belongs to  $G_n$  for n large.

We denote by  $\hat{G}$  the metric completion of G in the profinite metric  $d_{pf}$  (see [37]). Each point of  $\hat{G}$  is an equivalence class of Cauchy sequences in  $(G, d_{pf})$ . The multiplication of two sequences is given by multiplying corresponding elements and the product of two Cauchy sequences is Cauchy. The operation of multiplying equivalence classes of Cauchy sequences is well-defined and  $\hat{G}$  is a group with respect to multiplication. The group  $\hat{G}$  is homeomorphic to the Cantor set and there is a natural injective homomorphism of G into  $\hat{G}$  obtained by mapping  $A \in G$  into the equivalence class of the constant sequence  $(A, A, A, \ldots)$ . The image of G is dense in  $\hat{G}$ .

Since  $\hat{G}$  is a compact topological group, there exists a unique left and right translation measure m on  $\hat{G}$  such that  $m(\hat{G}) = 1$ . The measure m is called Haar measure and it is a positive Radon measure.

## 2.2 The G-tagged compact solenoid

At this point we fix a Fuchsian group G such that the Riemann surface  $\mathbf{D}/G$ has genus at least two, where  $\mathbf{D}$  is the unit disk. We describe the compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}$  using the profinite group  $\hat{G}$ . Consider the product  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$ . The action of  $A \in G$  on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  is defined by

$$A(z,t) = (Az, tA^{-1}),$$

where  $(z, t) \in \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  and A acts by hyperbolic isometries on the disk component and by right multiplication by  $A^{-1}$  on the group  $\hat{G}$  component. It is a fact that the quotient  $(\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G})/G$  is homeomorphic to the compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}$  (see [37]). The natural projection  $\Pi : (\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G})/G \to \mathbf{D}/G$  is given by forgetting the second coordinate. Thus the fiber over a point in  $\mathbf{D}/G$  is homeomorphic to  $\hat{G}$ . The orbit in  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  under G of a single disk  $\mathbf{D} \times \{t\}$  is a leaf of the solenoid. We define the orbit of  $\mathbf{D} \times \{id\}$  to be the baseleaf and the orbit of (0, id) to be the basepoint. After fixing the baseleaf and the basepoint, each fiber has an identification with  $\hat{G}$  and the projection  $\Pi : (\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G})/G \to \mathbf{D}/G$ is a  $\hat{G}$ -bundle.

We define the *G*-tagged compact solenoid  $S_G$  by

$$\mathcal{S}_G = (\mathbf{D} \times \tilde{G})/G.$$

Let  $\omega \subset \mathbf{D}$  be a fundamental polygon for the action of G on  $\mathbf{D}$ . Then  $\omega \times \hat{G}$  is a fundamental set for the action of G on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$ . The action of G is identifying a boundary side of  $\omega \times \{t\}$  with a boundary side of  $\omega \times \{tA^{-1}\}$ , where  $A \in G$  identifies the boundary side of  $\omega$  onto another boundary side of  $\omega$ . The group G is countable while  $\hat{G}$  is an uncountable set. Since G glues together the  $\omega$ -pieces to make a single leaf, we conclude that  $\mathcal{S}_G \approx \mathcal{S}$  has uncountably many leaves.

The holonomy of the leaves of the *G*-tagged compact solenoid  $S_G$  is given by the right translation of the group *G* in the group  $\hat{G}$ . Since *m* is an invariant measure on  $\hat{G}$ , we conclude that *m* induces a holonomy invariant transverse measure on the compact solenoid  $S_G$ .

## 3 Complex structures and hyperbolic metrics on the compact solenoid

A local chart of the compact solenoid S is homeomorphic to a  $(2-\text{disk}) \times (\text{Cantor set})$ . A transition function between two local charts is a homeomorphism from (an open subset of a 2-disk)  $\times (\text{Cantor set})$  onto another such set. In particular,

the restriction of the transition map to each 2-disk is a homeomorphism and the family of homeomorphisms varies continuously in the Cantor set direction for the  $C^0$ -topology on continuous maps.

A complex structure on the compact solenoid S is a choice of charts such that transition maps are holomorphic when restricted to each local leaf and vary continuously in the Cantor set direction for the  $C^0$ -topology. Since maps are holomorphic, the continuous variation in the  $C^0$ -topology implies continuous variation in the  $C^\infty$ -topology.

A hyperbolic metric on the compact solenoid S is an assignment of a metric of curvature -1 to each local leaf such that it varies continuously in the Cantor set direction and that there is a choice of an atlas whose transition functions are leafwise isometries (and vary continuously in the Cantor set direction).

It follows from the work of Candel [7] that any conformal structure on the compact solenoid S contains a unique hyperbolic metric. Any complex structure on the compact solenoid S corresponds to a conformal structure and any conformal structure gives a unique complex structure by the continuous dependence on the parameters of the solution of the Beltrami equation (see Ahlfors-Bers [1]).

The construction of the *G*-tagged compact solenoid above provides an example of a complex structure on S as well as a hyperbolic metric (by simply inducing the complex structure and the hyperbolic metric on the leaves of S from the unit disk  $\mathbf{D}$ ). The local charts of S are chosen to be of the form  $D \times \hat{G}$ , where  $D \subset \mathbf{D}$  is a small hyperbolic disk such that no two points of  $D \times \hat{G}$  are in the same orbit of G. The complex structure on the unit disk  $\mathbf{D}$  gives complex charts for S where the transition maps between any two charts  $D \times \hat{G}$  and  $D_1 \times \hat{G}$  are constant in  $\hat{G}$  (namely, they are given by Möbius maps  $A \in G$ ) and therefore continuous. The hyperbolic metric on  $\mathbf{D}$  gives a hyperbolic metric on S which is also constant in the  $\hat{G}$  direction.

Complex structures on S whose transition maps are locally constant in the Cantor set direction are called *transversely locally constant* (TLC) complex structures. (It is enough to find a subfamily of charts which cover S for which transition maps are constant in the Cantor set direction.) Similarly, a hyperbolic metric on S is TLC if there exists a cover of S by charts in which the hyperbolic metric is locally constant in the Cantor set direction. It is a fact that any TLC complex structure (hyperbolic metric) is obtained by taking a G-tagged solenoid, where G is a Fuchsian group uniformization of a closed surface of a (possibly large) genus greater than two. This follows by the compactness of S and the fact that each transverse direction corresponds to the profinite completion of a finite index subgroup of the fundamental group

of a genus two surface (see also [31]). Therefore, the set of all TLC complex structures on S is given by lifting complex structures on Riemann surfaces. Sullivan [43] showed that any complex structure on S can be approximated by TLC complex structure in the  $C^0$ -topology, which is equivalent to the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology.

### 4 The G-tagged non-compact solenoid

We introduce the non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$  (see [36]). Since we require that the topological ends of leaves are well-behaved, our construction immediately assigns a hyperbolic metric on  $S_{nc}$ . It will follow that  $S_{nc}$  has finite area in an appropriate sense.

Let  $G < PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  be such that  $\mathbf{D}/G$  is the once punctured torus modular group. Denote by  $\hat{G}$  the profinite completion of G. Recall that the action of G on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  is given by  $A(z,t) = (Az, tA^{-1})$  for  $z \in \mathbf{D}, t \in \hat{G}$  and  $A \in G$ . We define the *non-compact solenoid*  $S_{nc}$  by

$$\mathcal{S}_{nc} = (\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G})/G.$$

A leaf of  $S_{nc}$  is the orbit under G of a single disk  $\mathbf{D} \times \{t\}$ . Let  $\omega$  be a fundamental polygon for the action of G on  $\mathbf{D}$  such that the boundary edges are infinite geodesics which project to the geodesics on the torus  $\mathbf{D}/G$ connecting the puncture to itself. Then  $\omega \times \hat{G}$  is a fundamental set for the action of G on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$ . The identifications by G on  $\omega \times \hat{G}$  are identifying only the boundary edges in pairs on different levels according to the G-action on  $\hat{G}$ .

Any compact subset of  $S_{nc}$  is a subset of a compact set of the form  $((\mathbf{D}_r \cap \omega) \times \hat{G})/G$ , where  $\mathbf{D}_r$ , 0 < r < 1, is the Euclidean disk of radius r with center 0 and  $\mathbf{D}_r \cap \omega$  is a compact subset of  $\omega$ . The non-compact parts on each leaf  $(\mathbf{D} \times \{t\})/G \equiv \mathbf{D}$  as sets are given by the G-orbit of a single horoball  $\zeta$  in  $\mathbf{D}$  centered at the fixed point of a parabolic element of G. In the induced topology on the set  $G\{\zeta\}$  each horoball accumulates onto itself since it is preserved by the action of an infinite cyclic group generated by the parabolic element of G with the fixed point at the center of the horoball. A fundamental set  $\eta$  in the horoball for the action of the cyclic group is the intersection of the horoball and its image under the generating parabolic map. Then the corresponding points in  $\eta$  and  $C^n(\eta)$  are close for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  with |n| large, where  $C \in G$  is the generating parabolic element with fixed point at the center of the horoball. Moreover, the corresponding points in the horoball  $\zeta$  and

 $A(\zeta)$  are close provided that  $A \in G_n$  for *n* large. Therefore, each leaf of  $S_{nc}$  has countably many topological ends corresponding to the fixed points of the parabolics in *G*. The non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$  has only one end given by the equivalence class of the set  $(G(\zeta) \times \hat{G})/G$ .

Given a local chart of the form  $(2\text{-disk}) \times (\text{Cantor set})$ , there is a transversal identification of local charts. We consider only local charts of the form  $D \times \hat{G} \subset \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  for D a hyperbolic disk sufficiently small such that the projection map from  $D \times \hat{G}$  to  $\mathcal{S}_{nc}$  is a homeomorphism. The transverse identification of local leaves is an isometry because the hyperbolic metric is constant in  $\hat{G}$  and it extends to an isometric identification of global leaves. This identification is specified by fixing two local leaves of two global leaves. In the above identification, the ends of leaves correspond to each other. The ends are called "punctures" by abuse of notation. We say that two punctures of  $\mathcal{S}_{nc}$  are close if they correspond to each other under an identification of the leaves on which they reside where the identification is specified by two local leaves which are close in a given chart.

The above construction gives a hyperbolic metric on the leaves of  $S_{nc}$  which is transversely locally constant. We will consider an arbitrary non-compact solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  with a hyperbolic metric on leaves which varies continuously for the transverse variations together with a marking map  $f: S_{nc} \to \mathcal{X}$ . The marking f is a homeomorphism which is quasiconformal and differentiable on leaves, varies continuously in the transverse direction for the  $C^1$ -topology on differentiable maps and for the quasiconformal topology when global leaves are identified using local charts as above. In particular, the supremum of quasiconformal constants over the leaves is bounded. The end of  $S_{nc}$  is homeomorphically mapped onto the end of  $\mathcal{X}$ . Moreover, the intersection of a leaf of  $S_{nc}$  with the end is quasi-isometrically mapped onto the corresponding leaf of  $\mathcal{X}$ . Therefore, our notion of ends being close on the TLC non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$  is transferable to an arbitrary non-compact marked solenoid  $f: S_{nc} \to \mathcal{X}$ .

## 5 The Teichmüller space of the compact solenoid

We define the Teichmüller space T(S) of the compact solenoid S. Let G be a fixed Fuchsian group such that  $\mathbf{D}/G$  is a closed Riemann surface of genus at least two. Let  $S_G$  be the G-tagged compact solenoid with the induced complex structure from  $\mathbf{D}/G$ . The complex structure on the solenoid  $S_G$  is a TLC complex structure.

**Definition 5.1.** A homeomorphism  $f : S \to \mathcal{X}$  of a complex compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}$  onto a complex compact solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  is said to be *quasiconformal* if it is

differentiable and quasiconformal on each leaf and if it varies continuously in the transverse direction in the  $C^1$ -topology on the  $C^1$ -maps.

By the above definition, the composition  $g \circ f$  of two quasiconformal maps  $f : S \to X$  and  $g : X \to Y$  is quasiconformal.

**Remark 5.2.** Since S is compact, it follows that the continuity in the  $C^1$ -topology for the variations on the local leaves implies the continuity in the quasiconformal topology on the global leaves. It is necessary to require smoothness of quasiconformal maps in order to preserve quasiconformality under the composition. One is tempted to require that Beltrami coefficients of leafwise quasiconformal maps vary continuously in the transverse direction in the essential supremum norm. However, the chain rule for Beltrami coefficients shows that the composition of such two maps does not satisfy the same continuity property unless the quasiconformal maps have additional  $C^1$  smoothness and continuity in the transverse direction in the  $C^1$ -topology.

**Definition 5.3.** The *Teichmüller space*  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  of the compact *G*-tagged solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_G$  consists of all quasiconformal maps  $f: \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}$  up to an equivalence. Two quasiconformal maps  $f, g: \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y}$  are *Teichmüller equivalent* if there exists a conformal map  $c: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$  such that  $g^{-1} \circ c \circ f: \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{S}_G$  is homotopic to the identity. Denote by  $[f] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  the Teichmüller class of the quasiconformal map  $f: \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}$ , i.e. all quasiconformal maps homotopic to f up to post-composition by conformal maps.

Since the transverse set for S is totally disconnected, any homotopy does not mix the leaves. Any two homotopic quasiconformal maps of a complex compact solenoid are isotopic through uniformly bounded quasiconformal maps [27, Theorem 3.1].

**Definition 5.4.** The *Teichmüller distance*  $d_T$  on  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is given by

$$d_T([f], [g]) = \inf_{f_1 \in [f], g_1 \in [g]} 1/2 \log K(f_1 \circ g_1^{-1})$$

where K(f) is the supremum of the quasiconformal constants of the restrictions of  $f: S \to \mathcal{X}$  to the leaves of S. Since f is transversely continuous in the  $C^1$ topology and since each leaf is dense in S, we conclude that K(f) is equal to the quasiconformal constant on each leaf of S. In particular, the restriction of f to each leaf has the same quasiconformal constant.

Sullivan [43] showed that the Teichmüller (pseudo-)metric is a proper metric, i.e. that it is not degenerate. We give an alternative proof in this section.

## 5.1 The universal coverings of complex compact solenoids

Recall that the *G*-tagged complex solenoid  $S_G$  is given by the quotient of  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$ under the action of *G*. The complex structure and the hyperbolic metric on  $S_G$ are inherited from **D** and they are transversely locally constant. The natural quotient map

$$\pi: \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G} \to (\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G})/G \equiv \mathcal{S}_G$$

is a local homeomorphism which is leafwise conformal and which varies continuously in  $\hat{G}$  for the  $C^0$ -topology on continuous maps (which is equivalent to the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology on conformal maps). The space  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  is globally much simpler (a product) than  $\mathcal{S}_G$ . Thus we consider  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  as a complex "universal covering" of a TLC solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_G$  and we consider G as the covering group with its action on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$ .

Let  $f: S_G \to \mathcal{X}$  be a quasiconformal map, where  $\mathcal{X}$  is a hyperbolic compact solenoid not necessarily TLC. We form a complex universal covering for  $\mathcal{X}$ using the marking map f. We recall (see [41]) that there exists a chart  $(U \times T, \psi)$  of  $\mathcal{X}$ , where U a disk with center 0, such that  $\psi \circ f(\{0\} \times \hat{G}) = \{0\} \times T$ . Then f induces a homeomorphism of  $\hat{G}$  and T. Consider a family of maps  $\pi_t^X: \mathbf{D} \to \mathcal{X}$ , for  $t \in T$ , such that  $\pi_t$  is an isometry onto a leaf of  $\mathcal{X}$  (with its hyperbolic metric),  $\psi \circ \pi_t^X(0) = 0$  and  $(\psi \circ \pi_t^X)'(0) > 0$ . Then the maps  $\pi_t^X$ fit together to a single map

$$\pi^X : \mathbf{D} \times T \to \mathcal{X},$$

defined by  $\pi^X(\cdot, t) := \pi_t^X(\cdot)$ . The map  $\pi^X$  is a local homeomorphism and a leafwise isometry. We consider  $\mathbf{D} \times T$  as a hyperbolic (or a complex) "universal covering" with  $\pi^X$  as a cover map [41].

There is a well-defined lift

$$\tilde{f}: \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G} \to \mathbf{D} \times T$$

of the map  $f : S_G \to \mathcal{X}$  given by the formula  $\tilde{f}(z,t) := (\pi_t^X)^{-1} \circ f \circ \pi(z,t)$ (see [41]).

The group G acts on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  as a covering group of  $\mathcal{S}_G$  and we use  $\tilde{f}$  to introduce a conformal covering group for  $\mathcal{X}$ . Since

$$\pi^X \circ \tilde{f} = f \circ \pi,$$

it follows that

$$\pi^X \circ \tilde{f} \circ A = \pi^X \circ \tilde{f}$$

for all  $A \in G$ . Let  $(z,t) \in \Delta \times \widehat{G}$ ,  $\widetilde{f}(z,t) = (w_1,t_1) \in \Delta \times T$  and  $(\widetilde{f} \circ A)(z,t) = (w_2,t_2) \in \Delta \times T$ . By the above,

$$\pi^X(w_2, t_2) = \pi^X(w_1, t_1).$$

Consequently,

$$(\pi^X)^{-1}(\pi^X(w_1,t_1))$$

contains  $(w_2, t_2)$ . Note that  $(\pi_{t_2}^X)^{-1} \circ \pi_{t_1}^X$  is an isometry of  $\Delta \times \{t_1\}$  onto  $\Delta \times \{t_2\}$  and  $((\pi_{t_2}^X)^{-1} \circ \pi_{t_1}^X)(w_1) = w_2$ . We induce an action of  $A \in G$  on T by its natural action (by right multiplication) on  $\widehat{G}$  via the identification  $\psi \circ f \circ \pi : \widehat{G} \equiv T$ . We introduce a covering map  $A_X$  on the universal covering  $\Delta \times T$  of  $\mathcal{X}$  corresponding to A by

$$A_X(z,t) = ((\pi_{tA^{-1}}^X)^{-1} \circ \pi_t^X(z), tA^{-1}),$$

where  $t, tA^{-1} \in T \equiv \widehat{G}$ . The covering map  $A_X$  is an isometry on each leaf. Moreover,  $A_X$  is transversely continuous and  $\widetilde{f} \circ A = A_X \circ \widetilde{f}$  from the definition (see [41]). Then we define  $G_X := \widetilde{f}G\widetilde{f}^{-1}$  to be the covering group of  $\mathcal{X}$ , namely  $(\mathbf{D} \times T)/G_X$  is conformally equivalent to  $\mathcal{X}$ .

## 5.2 Beltrami coefficients and holomorphic quadratic differentials on the compact solenoid

Given a quasiconformal map  $f : S_G \to \mathcal{X}$ , there is a corresponding leafwise smooth (i.e.  $C^1$ ) Beltrami coefficient  $\mu = \frac{\bar{\partial}f}{\partial f}$  which is continuous for the transverse variations in the local charts for the  $C^1$ -topology on  $C^1$ -maps. The lift  $\tilde{f}$  has Beltrami coefficient  $\tilde{\mu}$  (which is the lift of  $\mu$ ) and it satisfies

$$\tilde{\mu}(z,t) = \tilde{\mu}(Az, tA^{-1}) \frac{\overline{A'(z)}}{A'(z)},$$
(5.1)

for  $A \in G$ .

More generally, if  $g: \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$  is a quasiconformal map of complex compact solenoids then there exists a lift  $\tilde{g}: \mathbf{D} \times T_1 \to \mathbf{D} \times T_2$  to their universal covers. The Beltrami coefficient  $\nu$  of g lifts to the Beltrami coefficient  $\tilde{\nu}$  on  $\mathbf{D} \times T_1$ such that

$$\tilde{\nu}(z,t) = \tilde{\nu}(A_X(z,t)) \frac{\overline{A'_X(z,t)}}{A'_X(z,t)}$$

for  $A_X \in G_X$ , where  $A_X(z,t) = (A_X^t(z), tA^{-1})$  and  $A'_X(z,t)$  is the leafwise derivative. Note that  $A'_X(z,t)$  depends on t.

By the compactness of  $S_G$ , the continuity in the local charts for the transverse variations of a Beltrami coefficient  $\mu$  on  $S_G$  implies that

$$\|\tilde{\mu}(\cdot,t) - \tilde{\mu}(\cdot,t_1)\|_{\infty} \to 0 \tag{5.2}$$

as  $t \to t_1$ , for all  $t_1 \in \hat{G}$ . In the opposite direction, a Beltrami coefficient  $\tilde{\mu}$ on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  which is leafwise  $C^1$ , which is continuous in the  $C^1$ -topology for the variations in  $\hat{G}$  on the compact subsets of  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  and which satisfies (5.2) is the lift of the Beltrami coefficient of a quasiconformal map  $f : S_G \to \mathcal{X}$ , where  $\mathcal{X}$  is determined by  $\tilde{\mu}$ .

Let  $\tilde{f}^{\tilde{\mu}}$  denote the leafwise solutions to the Beltrami equation with the coefficient  $\tilde{\mu}$  on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  normalized such that 1, *i* and -1 are fixed on each leaf. Then  $\tilde{f}^{\tilde{\mu}}$  conjugates the action of *G* on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  to the action of  $G^{\tilde{\mu}}$  on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$ . Let  $\mathcal{X}^{\mu} = (\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G})/G^{\tilde{\mu}}$  be the induced complex solenoid. Then  $\tilde{f}^{\tilde{\mu}}$  projects to a quasiconformal map  $f^{\mu} : S^{G} \to \mathcal{X}^{\mu}$ .

**Definition 5.5.** A transversely locally constant (TLC) Beltrami coefficient on a TLC compact solenoid S is a leafwise Beltrami coefficient which is constant in the transverse direction in some atlas of local charts.

**Definition 5.6.** A holomorphic quadratic differential  $\varphi$  on a complex compact solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  is a leafwise holomorphic quadratic differential which varies continuously in the local chart in the transverse direction in the  $C^0$ -topology. Equivalently, a leafwise holomorphic function  $\tilde{\varphi}$  on the universal cover  $\mathbf{D} \times T$ of  $\mathcal{X}$  is a lift of a holomorphic quadratic differential if

$$\tilde{\varphi}(z,t) = \tilde{\varphi}(A_X(z,t))A'_X(z,t)^2 \tag{5.3}$$

for  $A_X \in G_X$  and if

$$\|\tilde{\varphi}(\cdot,t) - \tilde{\varphi}(\cdot,t_1)\|_{Bers} \to 0 \tag{5.4}$$

as  $t \to t_1$ , where  $||f||_{Bers} := \sup_{z \in \mathbf{D}} |\rho^{-2}(z)f(z)|$  with  $\rho$  the Poincaré density on **D** (see [41]).

**Definition 5.7.** A transversely locally constant (TLC) holomorphic quadratic differential on a complex compact solenoid S is a leafwise holomorphic quadratic differential which is constant in the transverse direction in some atlas of local charts.

Using the above notion of Beltrami coefficients on the universal cover of  $\mathcal{S}_G$  we give an equivalent definition of the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ .

**Definition 5.8.** The *Teichmüller space*  $T(S_G)$  of the compact *G*-tagged solenoid  $S_G$  consists of all smooth Beltrami coefficients  $\tilde{\mu}$  on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  which vary continuously in the  $C^1$ -topology on compact subsets of  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  and which

satisfy (5.1) and (5.2) modulo an equivalence relation. Two Beltrami coefficients  $\tilde{\mu}$  and  $\tilde{\nu}$  are (Teichmüller) equivalent if there exists a conformal map  $c : \mathcal{X}^{\mu} \to \mathcal{X}^{\nu}$  such that  $(f^{\nu})^{-1} \circ c \circ f^{\mu} : \mathcal{S}_{G} \to \mathcal{S}_{G}$  is isotopic to the identity map.

#### 5.3 The restriction map $\pi_l$

We recall the definition of the restriction map  $\pi_l : T(\mathcal{S}_G) \to T(\mathbf{D})$  from [43]. Given a quasiconformal map  $f : \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}$ , the restriction to the baseleaf  $f|_l : l \to f(l)$  maps l to the leaf  $f(l) \subset \mathcal{X}$ . We fix a conformal identification  $l \equiv \mathbf{D}$ and take an arbitrary conformal identification  $f(l) \equiv \mathbf{D}$ . Then  $f|_l : \mathbf{D} \to \mathbf{D}$ is well-defined up to post-composition with a conformal map of  $\mathbf{D}$  (because of the choice  $f(l) \equiv \mathbf{D}$ ). This gives a well-defined element of the universal Teichmüller space  $T(\mathbf{D})$ . Sullivan [43] showed that  $\pi|_l$  is injective. We give a different proof.

**Theorem 5.9.** Let l be the baseleaf of the G-tagged compact solenoid  $S_G$ . Let  $\pi_l : T(\mathcal{F}_G) \to T(\mathbf{D})$  be defined by the restriction of the hyperbolic metric on  $S_G$  to the baseleaf l, where l is identified with the unit disk  $\mathbf{D}$ . Then  $\pi_l$  is injective.

Proof. It is enough to show that if  $\pi_l([f])$  is trivial in  $T(\mathbf{D})$  then  $[f] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ is trivial. Let  $\tilde{f} : \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G} \to \mathbf{D} \times T$  be a lift of  $f : \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}$  to the universal coverings. Denote by  $G_X$  the covering group of  $\mathcal{X}$ . Our assumption implies that  $\tilde{f}|_{S^1 \times \{id\}}$  is a Möbius map. By the invariance of  $\tilde{f}$  we conclude that  $\tilde{f}|_{S^1 \times \{A\}} = (A_X)^{-1} \circ \tilde{f}|_{S^1 \times \{id\}} \circ A$  is also a Möbius map, for each  $A \in G$ . Since G is dense in  $\hat{G}$ , we conclude that  $\tilde{f}$  is a Möbius map on the boundary  $S^1 \times \{t\}, t \in \hat{G}$ , of each leaf.

Thus, when restricted to a leaf,  $\tilde{f}$  is homotopic to a Möbius map (where different leaves can give different Möbius maps). We need to show that there is a homotopy  $F_t$ ,  $0 \le t \le 1$ , of  $\tilde{f}$  to Möbius maps on leaves such that  $F_1 = \tilde{f}$ ,  $F_t|_{S^1 \times \hat{G}} = \tilde{f}|_{S^1 \times \hat{G}}$  for each t, and the Beltrami coefficients  $\tilde{\mu}_t$  of  $F_t$  satisfy (5.1) and (5.2), for each t.

Let  $\tilde{\mu}$  be the Beltrami coefficient of  $\tilde{f}$ . Then we consider a path of Beltrami coefficients  $t \mapsto \tilde{\nu}_t = t\tilde{\mu}$ , for  $0 \leq t \leq 1$ , which satisfy (5.1) and (5.2). Then  $\tilde{\nu}_t$  converges to the trivial Beltrami coefficient as  $t \to 0$  and the path of properly normalized solutions  $t \mapsto \tilde{f}^{\tilde{\nu}_t}$  give a homotopy from  $\tilde{f}^{\tilde{\nu}_1} = \tilde{f}$  to the Möbius maps. However, we are not guaranteed that  $\tilde{f}^{\tilde{\nu}_t}$  extends to the Möbius maps (determined by  $\tilde{f}$ ) on the boundaries  $S^1 \times \hat{G}$  for 0 < t < 1. Let  $h_t$  be the boundary map for  $\tilde{f} \circ (\tilde{f}^{\tilde{\mu}_t})^{-1}$ . Let  $g_t$  be the leafwise barycentric extensions of  $h_t$ , for  $0 \leq t \leq 1$ . Then  $g_1 = g_0 = id$  because  $h_1 = h_0 = id$  on the boundary

(by the properties of the barycentric extension [9]). The Beltrami coefficients of  $g_t \circ \tilde{f}^{\tilde{\nu}_t}$  satisfy (5.1) and (5.2) for each t (again by the properties of the barycentric extension [9]) and the path  $t \mapsto g_t \circ \tilde{f}^{\tilde{\nu}_t}$  gives a homotopy from  $\tilde{f} = g_1 \circ \tilde{f}^{\tilde{\nu}_1}$  to the leafwise Möbius maps. (The idea of using barycentric extensions to find homotopies first appears in [12] for the plane domains, and it is utilized in [27] to show that homotopic maps of the compact solenoid are isotopic as well.)

Sullivan [43] showed that the Teichmüller metric on  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is a proper metric. We use the above theorem to give an alternative argument.

**Theorem 5.10.** The Teichmüller metric on the Teichmüller space  $T(S_G)$  of the compact solenoid is a proper metric, i.e.  $T(S_G)$  is a Hausdorff space for the Teichmüller metric.

*Proof.* Note that  $\pi_l : T(\mathcal{S}_G) \to T(\mathbf{D})$  is a contracting map with respect to the Teichmüller metrics on  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  and  $T(\mathbf{D})$ . Since the Teichmüller metric on  $T(\mathbf{D})$  is a proper metric the theorem follows.

## 5.4 The complex Banach manifold structure on $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$

The Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  embeds as an open subset in a complex Banach vector space as follows. Denote by  $\tilde{f} : \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G} \to \mathbf{D} \times T$  the lift to the universal covering of a quasiconformal map  $f : \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}$ . The Bers embedding for the universal Teichmüller space assigns to each  $\tilde{f}|_{\mathbf{D} \times \{t\}}$  a holomorphic quadratic differential  $\tilde{\varphi}|_{\mathbf{D} \times \{t\}}$ . The holomorphic quadratic differential  $\tilde{\varphi}$  satisfies (5.4) because of the continuous dependence on the parameters of the solutions to the Beltrami equation [1] and it satisfies (5.3) because the Beltrami coefficient of  $\tilde{f}$  satisfies (5.1).

We denote by  $B(S_G)$  the space of all holomorphic quadratic differentials on  $S_G$  which vary continuously in the transverse direction in the local charts for the  $C^0$ -topology. Note that  $B(S_G)$  is conformally isometric to the space of all leafwise holomorphic functions on  $\tilde{\varphi} : \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G} \to \mathbb{C}$  that are uniformly leafwise Bers bounded, i.e.  $\sup_{t \in \hat{G}} \|\tilde{\varphi}|_{\mathbf{D} \times \{t\}}\|_{Bers} < \infty$ , and that vary continuously in the transverse direction for Bers norm, i.e.  $\|\tilde{\varphi}\|_{\mathbf{D} \times \{t\}} - \tilde{\varphi}\|_{\mathbf{D} \times \{t_1\}}\|_{Bers} \to 0$  as  $t \to t_1$ , for each  $t_1 \in \hat{G}$ , and that are invariant under the action of G, i.e. they satisfy (5.3) (see [41]).

Therefore, we obtained a map  $\Pi : T(\mathcal{S}_G) \to B(\mathcal{S}_G)$  which is injective because the Bers map for the universal Teichmüller space is injective and the restriction map  $\pi_l$  is injective. Moreover,  $\Pi$  is a homeomorphism onto an open subset of  $B(\mathcal{S}_G)$  (see [41] for details). Note that  $\Pi : T(\mathcal{S}_G) \to B(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is the quotient of the holomorphic map  $\tilde{\Pi} : U_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{S}_G) \to B(\mathcal{S}_G)$ , where  $U_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is the unit ball in the space  $L_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{S}_G)$  of all leafwise smooth, transversely continuous Beltrami differentials with the essential supremum norm and where  $\tilde{\Pi}$  is obtained by taking the leafwise Bers embedding construction as above. Thus we define  $\Pi : T(\mathcal{S}_G) \to B(\mathcal{S}_G)$  to be a complex global chart for  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ . For details see Sullivan [43].

Since  $T(S_G)$  has a complex structure, there is a well-defined Kobayashi pseudometric on  $T(S_G)$ . The Kobayashi pseudometric is the largest metric on  $T(S_G)$  which makes all holomorphic maps from the unit disk with the Poincaré metric into  $T(S_G)$  weakly contracting. It is a well-known fact that the Kobayashi metric coincides with the Teichmüller metric for the Teichmüller spaces of Riemann surfaces (see [40], [17]). We showed that the same is true for  $T(S_G)$  [41].

**Theorem 5.11.** On the Teichmüller space  $T(S_G)$  of the universal hyperbolic solenoid  $S_G$ , the Kobayashi pseudometric equals the Teichmüller metric. In particular, the Kobayashi pseudometric is a metric.

### 6 The Reich-Strebel Inequality

The study of the Teichmüller metric on Teichmüller spaces of Riemann surfaces depends on the Reich-Strebel inequality which is a (highly non-trivial) generalization of the length-area method for finding extremal maps between quadrilaterals. We give a proper generalization of the Reich-Strebel inequality for the marked compact solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  from [41]. If  $\varphi$  is a transversely continuous holomorphic quadratic differential then  $|\varphi|$  is a leafwise area form on  $\mathcal{X}$ . The product  $|\varphi|dm$  is a measure on  $\mathcal{X}$ . Recall that m is the Haar measure on the profinite completion group  $\hat{G}$  of G and that the transverse sets in the local charts for  $\mathcal{X}$  are identified with  $\hat{G}$ .

**Definition 6.1.** Let  $\varphi$  be a holomorphic quadratic differential on a complex compact solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$ . Then

$$\|\varphi\|_{L^1(\mathcal{X})} := \iint_{\mathcal{X}} |\varphi| dm$$

**Definition 6.2.** The space of all holomorphic quadratic differentials on a complex compact solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  is called  $A(\mathcal{X})$ .

The proof of the Reich-Strebel inequality for the closed solenoid used a careful approximation argument (of holomorphic quadratic differentials and

complex solenoids by TLC holomorphic quadratic differentials on TLC complex solenoids) in [41] and we give a different proof below utilizing an idea of Gardiner [17, Section 2] for the proof in the closed surface case.

**Definition 6.3.** A Beltrami coefficient  $\mu$  on a complex solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  is called *Teichmüller trivial* if it is equivalent to the trivial coefficient 0, i.e. the solution of the Beltrami equation is homotopic to a conformal map.

**Theorem 6.4. (Reich-Strebel inequality)** Let  $\varphi$  be a holomorphic quadratic differential on the solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  and let  $\mu$  be a Teichmüller trivial Beltrami coefficient. Then

$$\|\varphi\|_{L^{1}(\mathcal{X})} \leq \int_{\mathcal{X}} \frac{\left|1 + \mu \frac{\varphi}{|\varphi|}\right|^{2}}{1 - |\mu|^{2}} |\varphi| dm.$$

$$(6.1)$$

*Proof.* Let  $\varphi \in A(\mathcal{X})$  and let  $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$  be the quasiconformal map whose Beltrami coefficient is  $\mu$ . Then f is homotopic to the identity on  $\mathcal{X}$  and its restriction to each leaf is homotopic to the identity. Since  $\varphi$  is a holomorphic function on each leaf, the set of zeroes of  $\varphi$  on each leaf is at most countable and they accumulate at the boundary of the leaf. Thus, the set of critical vertical (as well as horizontal) trajectories is countable on each leaf and does not influence the integration of  $|\varphi|$  on compact subsets of a leaf.

For a given closed arc  $\alpha \subset \mathcal{X}$ , we denote by  $h_{\varphi}(\alpha)$  the height of  $\alpha$ , namely the length in the metric  $|Im(\sqrt{\varphi(z,t)}dz)|$  given in the local chart. We claim that there exists M > 0 such that for any compact segment  $\beta$  on a non-critical vertical trajectory we have

$$h_{\varphi}(\beta) \le h_{\varphi}(f(\beta)) + M. \tag{6.2}$$

Let  $t \mapsto f_t$  be a homotopy from  $f_0 = id$  to  $f_1 = f$ . Recall that if  $\gamma$  is a path in S connecting the endpoints of  $\beta$  then  $h_{\varphi}(\beta) \leq h_{\varphi}(\gamma)$  (see, for example, [42] or [17, Lemma 2, page 41]).

Let p be the initial point and let q be the terminal point of  $\beta$ . We define a path  $\gamma$  connecting the endpoints of  $\beta$  by taking  $\gamma_0 : t \mapsto f_t(p)$  followed by  $f(\beta)$  followed by  $\gamma_1 : t \mapsto f_{1-t}(p)$ . Then

$$h_{\varphi}(\beta) \le h_{\varphi}(\gamma_0) + h_{\varphi}(f(\beta)) + h_{\varphi}(\gamma_1).$$

We consider the displacement function  $d: \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{R}$  for the map f. Since f is homotopic to the identity and since the transverse set is totally disconnected, it follows that f fixes each leaf. Then d(p), for  $p \in \mathcal{X}$ , is defined by taking the leafwise distance in the metric  $\sqrt{|\varphi|}|dz|$  from p to f(p). The displacement function d is continuous because  $\varphi$  varies continuously for the transverse variations in charts and f is continuous as well for the transverse variations. Since S is a compact space, there exists a maximum  $M_1$  for the displacement function d. Then, from the above inequality, we obtain the desired inequality (6.2) by using the above triangle inequality for heights, by observing that the height  $h_{\varphi}$  of a curve is shorter that the distance in the above metric  $\sqrt{|\varphi|}|dz|$  and by taking  $M = 2M_1$ .

We claim that each ray of a non-critical vertical trajectory of  $\varphi$  is of infinite length. To see this, assume that a ray r of a non-critical vertical trajectory is of finite length in the  $\sqrt{|\varphi|}|dz|$  metric, namely  $h_{\varphi}(r) = h < \infty$ . Then let  $0 < u_n < h$  be an increasing sequence of parameters for r with  $u_n \to h$  such that  $r(u_n)$  converges to a point  $q \in \mathcal{X}$  (there is a convergent sequence by the compactness of  $\mathcal{X}$ ). Then either q belongs to the same leaf as r or to a different leaf. We consider both cases below.

If q belongs to the same leaf as r then a standard argument shows that q must be a zero of  $\varphi$  [42], [17]. This implies that r is critical which is a contradiction.

If q belongs to another leaf, then q must be a zero of  $\varphi$  as well. Otherwise, there would exist a neighborhood of q in  $\mathcal{X}$  in which  $\varphi$  does not have any zeroes. This neighborhood can be chosen to consists of small disks with fixed radius in the metric  $\sqrt{|\varphi|}|dz|$  centered at a transverse neighborhood of q. But r has to enter this neighborhood intersecting the disks of half the radius infinitely many times. This implies that r has an infinite length which is a contradiction.

Therefore q is a zero of  $\varphi$ . Then there exists a neighborhood of q in  $\mathcal{X}$  consisting of disks with small fixed radius around a transverse neighborhood of q such that all zeroes of  $\varphi$  in this neighborhood are in the disks of 1/3 the radius. Note that r has to enter infinitely many times in the smaller disks and exit the larger disk. In particular, r crosses infinitely many times the annulus whose outer boundary is the boundary of the larger disk and whose inner boundary is the boundary of the smaller disk. The holomorphic quadratic differential has no zeros in the annulus. It follows that the length of r is infinite, which is again a contradiction. Thus r has infinite length.

At this point we modify the standard arguments in [17] to the compact solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$ . On the set of points  $p \in \mathcal{X}$  which do not lie on the critical vertical trajectories of  $\varphi$ , we define the function

$$g(p) = h_{\varphi}(f(\beta_p))$$

where  $\beta_p$  is a compact vertical segment with center p and length b. By a change of variable, we obtain

$$g(p) = \int_{\beta_p} |Im(\sqrt{\psi}dz)|$$

where  $\psi = (\varphi \circ f) f_z^2 (1 - \frac{\mu \varphi}{|\varphi|})^2$  is a quadratic differential on  $\mathcal{X}$ . At this point, we write all the integration in terms of the natural parameter  $\zeta = \xi + i\eta$  for  $\varphi$ . Then

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}} g(p) d\xi d\eta dm = b \int_{\mathcal{X}} |Im\sqrt{\psi}| d\xi d\eta dm$$

by Fubini's theorem. By (6.2), we obtain  $b - M \leq \int_{\beta_p} |Im(\sqrt{\psi}d\zeta)|$  for  $p \in \mathcal{X}$ . By integrating both sides of the above inequality over  $\mathcal{X}$  with respect to measure  $d\xi d\eta dm$ , we obtain

$$\frac{b-M}{b}\int_{\mathcal{X}}d\xi d\eta dm \leq \int_{\mathcal{X}}|Im\sqrt{\psi(\zeta)}|d\xi d\eta dm.$$

By letting  $b \to \infty$  and inserting  $|\sqrt{\varphi(\zeta)}| = 1$  under the integral on the right, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}} |\varphi| dm \leq \int_{\mathcal{X}} |\sqrt{\varphi} \sqrt{\psi}| dm$$

and after substituting the expression for  $\psi$  and using Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality, we obtain the desired inequality called *Reich-Strebel inequality*.  $\Box$ 

We consider equivalence classes of Beltrami coefficients on the compact solenoid  $S_G$  as elements of the Teichmüller space  $T(S_G)$ . If  $f : S_G \to \mathcal{X}$  is a marked solenoid and  $\mu$  is a Beltrami coefficient on  $\mathcal{X}$ , then there is a marked solenoid  $f^{\mu} \circ f : S_G \to \mathcal{X}^{\mu}$  such that the Beltrami coefficient of  $f^{\mu} : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}^{\mu}$ is  $\mu$ . Then the class of the Beltrami coefficient of  $f^{\mu} \circ f$  determines a point in  $T(S_G)$ . In this sense, we consider the class of a Beltrami coefficient on a marked solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  as an element of  $T(S_G)$ .

A derivative of a path of Beltrami coefficients on a marked compact solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  is called a *Beltrami differential* (when the derivative exists) and it is considered as a representative of a tangent vector to  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  at the point  $\mathcal{X}$ . A Beltrami differential has finite essential supremum norm while a Beltrami coefficient have essential supremum norm less than 1.

One important question is when do two Beltrami differentials on  $\mathcal{X}$  represent the same tangent vector. The Reich-Strebel inequality gives the answer (see [41]) similar to the Riemann surface case. We say that a Beltrami coeffi-

24

cient  $\mu$  on a complex solenoid X is *infinitesimally trivial* if

$$\int_X \mu \varphi dm = 0$$

for each holomorphic quadratic differential  $\varphi$  on  $\mathcal{X}$ .

**Theorem 6.5.** A smooth Beltrami differential  $\nu$  on a complex solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  is infinitesimally trivial if and only if there exists a holomorphic curve  $\mu_s$  of Teichmüller trivial smooth Beltrami coefficients on  $\mathcal{X}$  such that  $\mu_s = s\nu + O(s^2)$  in the essential supremum norm on  $\mathcal{X}$ .

Denote by  $L_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{X})$  the space of all smooth Beltrami differentials on  $\mathcal{X}$  that vary continuously in the transverse direction for the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology. Denote by  $N(\mathcal{X})$  the space of infinitesimally trivial smooth Beltrami differentials. The above theorem identifies the space of tangent vectors at  $[f : \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}] \in$  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  with  $L_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{X})/N(\mathcal{X})$ . Since  $L_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{X})$  and  $N(\mathcal{X})$  are not complete, it is not obvious that the tangent space is a complete vector space.

Recall that  $A(\mathcal{X})$  is the space of all (transversely continuous) holomorphic quadratic differentials on  $\mathcal{X}$ . We introduce a surjective continuous linear map  $P: L_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{X}) \to A(\mathcal{X})$ , where  $A(\mathcal{X})$  is equipped with the Bers norm. Note that  $L_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{X})$  is identified with the space of all essentially bounded leafwise smooth function  $\tilde{\mu}$  on the universal cover  $\mathbf{D} \times T$  of  $\mathcal{X}$  that are continuous for the transverse variations in the  $C^{\infty}$ -topology and for the essential supremum norm, i.e.

$$\|\tilde{\mu}(z,t) - \tilde{\mu}(z,t_1)\|_{\infty} \to 0$$

as  $t \to t_1$  for all  $t_1 \in T$ , and that satisfy

$$\tilde{\mu}(z,t) = \tilde{\mu}(A_X(z,t)) \frac{\overline{A'_X(z,t)}}{A'_X(z,t)}$$

for all  $A_X \in G_X$ .

Then  $P: L_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{X}) \to A(\mathcal{X})$  is defined by taking leafwise Bers' reproducing formula and noting that the invariance of  $\tilde{\mu}$  with respect to  $G_X$  gives the invariance of the leafwise holomorphic functions  $P(\tilde{\mu})$  with respect to  $G_X$ . The transverse continuity of  $P(\tilde{\mu})$  follows by the continuity of the Bers' reproducing formula.

We showed [41] that P induces a linear isomorphism  $\overline{P}$  from the tangent space at the point  $[f : S_G \to \mathcal{X}] \in T(S_G)$  onto  $A(\mathcal{X})$ .

**Corollary 6.6.** The map  $P: L^{\infty}_{s}(\mathcal{X}) \to A(\mathcal{X})$  induces a continuous linear isomorphism from the normed space  $L^{\infty}_{s}(\mathcal{X})/N(\mathcal{X})$  onto the Banach space  $A(\mathcal{X})$ 

equipped with the Bers norm. Consequently, the tangent space  $L_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{X})/N(\mathcal{X})$ at any point  $[f: \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is a complex Banach space.

Thus the tangent space to  $T(S_G)$  has a nice interpretation in terms of the harmonic Beltrami differentials as in the case of Teichmüller spaces of Riemann surfaces. We considered [41] to which extent the duality between the integrable holomorphic quadratic differentials and tangent vectors carries from Teichmüller spaces of Riemann surfaces to  $T(S_G)$ . It is worth noting that  $A(\mathcal{X})$  is a complete space in the Bers norm and it is not complete in the  $L^1$ -norm. This accounts for the difference from the Riemann surface case.

**Theorem 6.7.** The dual  $A^*(\mathcal{X})$  for  $L^1$ -norm on  $A(\mathcal{X})$  is strictly larger than the tangent space at  $[f : S \to \mathcal{X}] \in T(S)$ .

Denote by  $A^1(\mathcal{X})$  the space of integrable, a.e. leafwise holomorphic quadratic differentials on  $\mathcal{X}$ . Then  $A(\mathcal{X}) \leq A^1(\mathcal{X})$  and we showed [41] the density statement in the  $L^1$ -norm.

**Theorem 6.8.** The closure of  $A(\mathcal{X})$  for the  $L^1$ -norm is equal to  $A^1(\mathcal{X})$ .

## 7 The Teichmüller-type extremal maps

The Teichmüller distance between a point  $[f : S_G \to \mathcal{X}] \in T(S)$  and the basepoint  $[id] \in T(S_G)$  is the infimum of the logarithms of the quasiconformal constants of all maps homotopic to f. A map  $f_1 \in [f]$  is called *extremal* if it has the least quasiconformal constant in the homotopy class [f]. If  $f_1 \in [f]$  is extremal then

$$d([f], [id]) = 1/2 \log K(f_1).$$

A Beltrami coefficient  $\mu$  on  $S_G$  is called *extremal* if its corresponding quasiconformal map is extremal.

Given a holomorphic quadratic differential  $\varphi$  on  $\mathcal{X}$ , the Beltrami coefficient  $k \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi}$  is called a *Teichmüller-type* Beltrami coefficient. The corresponding quasiconformal map  $f^{k \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi}}$  is called a *Teichmüller-type* map; the quasiconformal constant of  $f^{k \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi}}$  is  $K = \frac{1+k}{1-k}$ ; in the natural parameter  $\zeta = \sqrt{\varphi}$ ,  $f^{k \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi}}$  is given by stretching the horizontal direction by a factor  $\sqrt{K}$  and by shrinking the vertical direction by a factor  $1/\sqrt{K}$ .

An important consequence of the Reich-Strebel inequality is that the Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficients are extremal in their classes [41]. In fact, a path of Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficients gives a geodesic in  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ . **Theorem 7.1.** Let  $f: S_G \to \mathcal{X}$  be a quasiconformal map and let  $\varphi \neq 0$  be a holomorphic quadratic differential on  $\mathcal{X}$ . Then the path  $t \mapsto t \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi}$ , -1 < t < 1, of Teichmüller type Beltrami coefficients on  $\mathcal{X}$  gives a geodesic (in the Teichmüller metric) through the point  $[f] \in T(S_G)$ . In addition, any two points on this geodesic have no other geodesics connecting them.

**Remark 7.2.** Note that  $\varphi \in A(\mathcal{X})$  can have zeros on  $\mathcal{X}$  which makes Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficient discontinuous at these points. Strictly speaking a Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficient does not belong to a Teichmüller class of smooth Beltrami coefficients on  $\mathcal{X}$ . However, this is a technical difficulty which was addressed in [41]. In fact, any zero of  $\varphi$  on a leaf of  $\mathcal{X}$ has a neighborhood in  $\mathcal{X}$  such that each local leaf has at least one zero. It can happen that a multiple zero of  $\varphi$  on one leaf is a limit of several simple zeros of  $\varphi$  on nearby leaves. The idea is to replace the Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficient in such small neighborhoods of zeros of  $\varphi$  by a smooth Beltrami coefficient such that the new global Beltrami coefficient on  $\mathcal{X}$  is smooth. This can be done in such a way that the restriction to each leaf of the original Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficient and the new smooth Beltrami coefficient represent the same point in the universal Teichmüller space  $T(\mathbf{D})$  and that the sequence of new smooth Beltrami coefficients (obtained by shrinking the neighborhoods of zeros of  $\varphi$  to a zero area set) converges to the Teichmüllertype Beltrami coefficient uniformly on the compact subsets of the complement of the set of zeros of each leaf. Moreover, the essential supremum norm of the approximating sequence approaches the norm of the Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficient (see [41, Proposition 5.1]). Thus, Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficients are "well" approximated by smooth Beltrami coefficients and we can consider them as elements of Teichmüller classes as well.

**Remark 7.3.** We noted that the union of the lifts of the Teichmüller spaces of all finite unbranched coverings of the base surface to the Teichmüller space  $T(S_G)$  of the compact solenoid  $S_G$  is dense in  $T(S_G)$ . Moreover, if covering surface  $S_1$  is covered by another covering surface  $S_2$  then  $T(S_1)$  embeds by isometry into  $T(S_2)$  (a consequence of the Teichmüller's theorem for surfaces). One can consider a metric on  $T(S_G)$  to be the "limit" metric of the Teichmüller metrics on the union of the Teichmüller spaces of finite coverings. The above theorem says that the Teichmüller metric on  $T(S_G)$  (induced by taking the quasiconformal constants of the quasiconformal maps between the compact solenoids) agrees with the "limit" metric (because they agree on a dense subset). In particular, the extremal quasiconformal map between two TLC complex solenoids is given by the lift of the extremal maps between the surfaces (note that the Teichmüller class contains quasiconformal maps which are not lifts of maps between surfaces).

We note that Definition 5.8 is equivalent to the following definition of  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  because each leaf is dense in  $\mathcal{S}_G$ . Let G be a Fuchsian group such that  $\mathbf{D}/G$  is a closed surface and let  $G_n$  be the intersection of all subgroups of G of index at most n. Then  $G_n$  is a finite index characteristic subgroup of G.

**Definition 7.4.** The Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  of the compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_G$  is the space of all smooth Beltrami coefficients  $\mu$  on the unit disk **D** which are "almost invariant" under G, i.e. which satisfy

$$\sup_{A \in G_n} \|\mu - A^*(\mu)\|_{\infty} \to 0$$

as  $n \to \infty$ , up to the Teichmüller equivalence in the universal Teichmüller space  $T(\mathbf{D})$ .

**Remark 7.5.** The proof of Theorem 7.1 uses the Reich-Strebel inequality in an essential way. It is important that we have a transverse measure m on  $S_G$ in order to be able to integrate leafwise holomorphic quadratic differentials on  $S_G$ . If we use Definition 7.4 for  $T(S_G)$ , then the Teichmüller metric is defined in terms of the quasiconformal constants of the quasiconformal maps of the unit disk **D**. If we consider a holomorphic quadratic differential  $\varphi$  on **D** such that the Teichmüller type Beltrami coefficient  $k \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi}$  is almost invariant, then it seems difficult to directly show that it is extremal among all equivalent almost invariant Beltrami coefficients. Thus, even though Definition 7.4 is simpler than Definition 5.8, it seems beneficial to work with the later definition when studying extremal maps.

Any TLC Beltrami coefficient  $\tilde{\mu}$  on  $S_G$  is a lift of a Beltrami coefficient  $\mu$  on a closed Riemann surface  $S_n$  in the tower of Riemann surfaces defining a fixed TLC complex structure of S. By Teichmüller's theorem for closed surfaces, there exists 0 < k < 1 and  $\varphi \in A(S_n)$  such that  $k \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi} \in [\mu]$ . Then  $\varphi$  lifts to a TLC holomorphic quadratic differential  $\tilde{\varphi} \in A(S_G)$  and  $k \frac{|\tilde{\varphi}|}{\tilde{\varphi}} \in [\tilde{\mu}]$ . By the above theorem, we get immediately that  $d([\tilde{\mu}], [0]) = d([\mu], [0])$ . In other words [41],

**Corollary 7.6.** Let S be a closed Riemann surface such that the TLC complex structure on the compact solenoid  $S_G$  can be obtained by lifting the complex structure of S. Then the natural inclusion map

$$i: T(S) \to T(\mathcal{S}_G)$$

obtained by mapping Beltrami coefficients on S to their lifts on  $S_G$  is an isometry for the Teichmüller metrics.

The Teichmüller space T(S) of a closed surface S is a finite-dimensional complex manifold. Any two points  $[f: S \to S_1]$  and  $[g: S \to S_2]$  in T(S) are

connected by a unique Teichmüller-type geodesic path  $t \mapsto [t \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi}], 0 \le t \le k$ , for  $\varphi \in A(S_1)$  and some 0 < k < 1.

On the other hand, the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathbf{D})$  of the unit disk  $\mathbf{D}$  is infinite-dimensional non-separable complex Banach manifold. There are points in  $T(\mathbf{D})$  which are not connected by a Teichmüller-type geodesic path. However, Lakic [21] observed that an open, dense subset of  $T(\mathbf{D})$  is connected by a Teichmüller-type geodesic to the basepoint  $[0] \in T(\mathbf{D})$ .

The Teichmüller space  $T(S_G)$  of the universal hyperbolic solenoid  $S_G$  is also an infinite-dimensional complex Banach manifold, but it is separable. This is the first example of a separable Teichmüller space which is the "smallest" possible infinite-dimensional space. Moreover, even though each leaf is noncompact, the solenoid  $S_G$  is a compact space. In addition, the union of lifts of Teichmüller spaces of all closed surfaces of genus at least two is dense in  $T(S_G)$  (see Nag-Sullivan [31] or [41]) and we showed in the above corollary that each such point is connected to the basepoint by a Teichmüller-type geodesic path. Based on the above remarks, one would hope that each point in  $T(S_G)$ is connected by a Teichmüller-type geodesic to the basepoint. If not, at least one would expect this to be true for a large subset of  $T(S_G)$ . However, the situation for  $T(S_G)$  is unexpectedly different (see [14]).

**Theorem 7.7.** The set of points in the Teichmüller space  $T(S_G)$  of the compact solenoid  $S_G$  which do not have a Teichmüller-type extremal representative is generic in  $T(S_G)$ . That is, the set of points that do have a Teichmüller-type representative is of the first kind in the sense of Baire with respect to the Teichmüller metric.

*Proof.* For the benefit of the reader, we give a short description of the ideas involved in the proof. The key idea is to exploit the difference between the  $L^1$ -norm and the Bers norm on the space of transversely continuous holomorphic quadratic differentials  $A(\mathcal{S}_G)$  on  $\mathcal{S}_G$ . In particular,  $A(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is complete for the Bers norm and incomplete for the  $L^1$ -norm.

We sketch the proof that there exist points in  $T(S_G)$  which do not have a Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficient representatives. The proof that they are generic is just an easy modification.

Assume on the contrary that all points in  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  have Teichmüller-type representatives. Let  $A^1 = \{\varphi \in A(\mathcal{S}_G); \|\varphi\|_{L^1} = 1\}$  and let  $A^1(N) = \{\varphi \in A^1; \|\varphi\|_{Bers} \leq N\}$ , where  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . Then  $A^1 = \bigcup_{N=1}^{\infty} A^1(N)$ . We define a map

$$\pi: T(\mathcal{S}) \to A^1 \cup \{0\}$$

by  $\pi([\mu]) = \varphi$  if  $[\mu] \neq [0]$ , where  $k \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi} \in [\mu]$  and  $\varphi$  is normalized such that  $\|\varphi\|_{L^1} = 1$ , and by  $\pi([0]) = 0$ . Then

$$T(\mathcal{S}_G) = \bigcup_{N=1}^{\infty} \pi^{-1}(A^1(N)) \cup \{[0]\}.$$

We recall (see [14, Proposition 4.2]) that each  $\pi^{-1}(A^1(N)) \cup [0]$  is closed in  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  under our assumption above. To see this, note that if  $[k_n \frac{|\varphi_n|}{\varphi_n}] \to [k \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi}]$  then  $k_n \to k$  and  $\int_{\mathcal{S}} \frac{|\varphi_n|}{\varphi_n} \varphi dm \to 1$  as  $n \to \infty$ , by the Reich-Strebel inequality. We assume that  $[k_n \frac{|\varphi_n|}{\varphi_n}] \in \pi^{-1}(A^1(N))$ . Then  $\int_{\mathcal{S}} \frac{|\varphi_n|}{\varphi_n} \varphi dm \to 1$  implies that  $\varphi \in A^1(N)$ , i.e.  $[k \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi}] \in \pi^{-1}(A^1(N))$ .

This implies that at least one  $\pi^{-1}(A^1(N))$  is of the second kind in the sense of Baire and hence it has an interior. We obtain a contradiction by showing that each  $\pi^{-1}(A^1(N))$  is nowhere dense, hence of the first kind in the sense of Baire.

The rest of the proof depends on a geometric construction. Assume that  $\pi^{-1}(A^1(N))$  has an interior and let  $[\mu]$  be a TLC point in the interior, namely  $\mu$  is equivalent to  $k \frac{|\tilde{\varphi}|}{\tilde{\varphi}}$  with  $\tilde{\varphi}$  a lift of a holomorphic quadratic differential  $\varphi$  on a closed Riemann surface S. Denote by  $S_b$  a surface obtained by cutting S along a non-separating simple closed geodesic b. We consider a  $\mathbb{Z}_n$ -cover  $S_n$  of S obtained by cyclically gluing n-copies of the surface  $S_b$ . Let 0 < r < 1 and denote by  $S_{n,r}$  the [rn]/n portion of  $S_n$  which is made out of [rn] neighboring copies of  $S_b$ . The boundary of  $S_{n,r}$  consists of two curves which are copies of b. Let  $\varphi_n$  be a quadratic differential on  $S_n$  obtained by lifting  $\varphi$  on the  $S_{n,r}$  part and defining it to be zero on the  $S_n - S_{n,r}$  part. Let  $\tilde{\varphi}_n$  be the lifted quadratic differential to  $\mathcal{S}_G$ . Note that  $\varphi_n$  and  $\tilde{\varphi}_n$  are piecewise holomorphic. It turns out that  $\tilde{\varphi}_n$  can be approximated by holomorphic quadratic differential  $\tilde{\psi}_n$  on  $\mathcal{S}_G$  in the  $L^1$ -norm such that  $\tilde{\psi}_n$  is a lift of a holomorphic quadratic differential  $\psi_n$  on  $S_n$  (see [14, Lemma 4.3]).

Let  $\tilde{S}_{n,r}$  denote the pre-image of  $S_{n,r}$  in the solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_G$ . Then  $\alpha(\tilde{S}_{n,r}) = [nr]/n$ , where  $\alpha$  is the product measure of the leafwise hyperbolic area measure and the transverse Haar measure m multiplied by an appropriate constant such that  $\alpha(\mathcal{S}_G) = 1$ . We keep the notation  $[\mu]$  for the fixed TLC point in the interior of  $\pi^{-1}(A^1(N))$ . Let  $\nu_n$  on  $\mathcal{S}_G$  be defined by  $\nu_n = (1+r)k\frac{|\tilde{\varphi}|}{\tilde{\varphi}}$  on  $\tilde{S}_{n,r}$ and  $\nu_n = k\frac{|\tilde{\varphi}|}{\tilde{\varphi}}$  on  $\mathcal{S}_G - \tilde{S}_{n,r}$ . By the Reich-Strebel inequality, the Beltrami coefficient  $\nu_n$  when considered as a functional on  $A(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is close to achieving its norm on a holomorphic quadratic differential which is similar to  $\tilde{\psi}_n$  in the  $L^1$  sense, i.e. the integral of its absolute value when coupled with the Haar measure over  $\mathcal{S}_G - \tilde{S}_{n,r}$  is converging to zero as  $n \to \infty$ . If r is small enough then  $[\nu_n] \in \pi^{-1}(A^1(N))$ . This implies that  $\tilde{\psi}_n$  is in  $A^1(N)$ . This is a contradiction with

$$1 = \int_{\mathcal{S}_G} |\tilde{\psi}_n| dm \le \|\tilde{\psi}_n\|_{Bers} \alpha(\tilde{S}_{n,r}) + \int_{\mathcal{S}-\tilde{S}_{n,r}} |\tilde{\psi}_n| dm$$

because the right side can be made arbitrary small for n large and r small enough. Therefore, our starting assumption that all points have Teichmüller-type extremal representatives is not correct.

To show the stronger statement that the set of points which have Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficient representatives is of the first kind, it is enough to assume that it is of second kind and use this set instead of the whole  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  in the above argument.

We recall that each point  $[\mu] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is approximated by a sequence  $[\mu_n] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  of TLC points. Each  $\mu_n$  is Teichmüller equivalent to a unique Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficient  $k_n \frac{|\varphi_n|}{\varphi_n}$ , where  $\varphi_n$  is a TLC holomorphic quadratic differential on  $\mathcal{S}_G$ . We say that  $[\mu]$  is *well-approximated* by the TLC sequence  $[\mu_n]$  if

$$\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|k_n \varphi_n - k_{n+1} \varphi_{n+1}\|_{Bers} < \infty.$$

**Theorem 7.8.** If a non locally transversely constant point in  $T(S_G)$  is wellapproximated by transversely locally constant points then it contains a Teichmüller-type extremal Beltrami coefficient representative.

**Remark 7.9.** We note that the above two theorems have counterparts in the infinitesimal setting. Namely, a generic vector in the tangent space at the basepoint  $[0] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  does not achieve its norm on  $A(\mathcal{S}_G)$  (when considered as a linear functional on  $A(\mathcal{S}_G)$ ), namely it cannot be represented by a Teichmüller-type Beltrami coefficient  $k \frac{|\varphi|}{\varphi}$ , for k > 0 and  $\varphi \in A(\mathcal{S}_G)$  (see [14, Theorem 3]). A well-approximated non TLC vector in the tangent space at the basepoint  $[0] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  does achieve its norm on  $A(\mathcal{S}_G)$  (see [14, Theorem 2]).

The set of real numbers which are not well-approximated by rational numbers is of full Lebesgue measure on the real line. From Theorem 7.7 and Theorem 7.8, we immediately obtain a similar statement for well-approximation with TLC points in  $T(S_G)$  (see [14]).

**Corollary 7.10.** The set of points in  $T(S_G)$  which are not well-approximated by transversely locally constant marked complex structures is generic in  $T(S_G)$ .

## 8 The Modular group of the compact solenoid

The following definition was given by C. Odden [37]:

**Definition 8.1.** The *Modular group*  $Mod(S_G)$  consists of all quasiconformal self-maps of  $S_G$  which preserve the baseleaf up to isotopy.

The Modular group  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_G)$  acts on the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  by

$$[f: \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}] \mapsto [f \circ g^{-1}: \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{X}],$$

where  $[g: \mathcal{S}_G \to \mathcal{S}] \in \operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_G)$  and  $[f] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ .

**Definition 8.2.** (see [5], [37]) A partial automorphism of the fundamental group  $G = \pi_1(S_0)$  is an isomorphism between two finite index subgroups of G. Two partial automorphisms  $\psi_1 : K_1 \to H_1$  and  $\psi_2 : K_2 \to H_2$  are said to be equivalent if they agree on the intersection of their domains. The virtual automorphism group Vaut(G) of the surface group G is by the definition the group of equivalence classes of partial automorphisms. Note that the virtual automorphism group is also called the (abstract) commensurator group Comm(G) of the surface group G and we use this notation in the rest of the chapter.

In [5], a natural group in which each element is given by two non-isomorphic pointed covers of the same degree of the base surface  $(S_0, x_0)$  is shown to act on the union of Teichmüller spaces of all closed surfaces of genus at least two, namely the subset of  $T(\mathcal{S})_G$  consisting of all TLC points. The above group is naturally isomorphic to the commensurator group  $\operatorname{Comm}(G)$  of the surface group  $G = \pi_1(S_0)$ . The action is isometric for the Teichmüller distance on the union of Teichmüller spaces of all closed surfaces of genus at least two and it extends by the continuity to the action on the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ . One should note that our definition of the Teichmüller metric on  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  does not guarantee that the above union embeds isometrically in  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ ; this is a consequence of the Reich-Strebel theorem for  $\mathcal{S}_G$  (see Corollary 7.6). However, we do not need to use Corollary 7.6 to show that the continuous extension is possible; it is enough to note that the Teichmüller metric on the above union is bi-Lipschitz (with constant 1/3) to the Teichmüller metric on  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ (which is a consequence of the standard result comparing Teichmüller metric on Teichmüller space of a Riemann surface with the restriction of Teichmüller metric of the universal Teichmüller space  $T(\mathbf{D})$  to its embedding into  $T(\mathbf{D})$ due to McMullen [29], [18]).

The following theorem (see [37]) gives a natural interpretation of the commensurator group Comm(G) in terms of the solenoid.

**Theorem 8.3.** Let  $S_G$  be the *G*-tagged compact solenoid. Fix an identification of the baseleaf of  $S_G$  with **D**. Then the Modular group Mod(S) is isomorphic

to the commensurator group Comm(G) of the base surface group G. The isomorphism is given by the restriction of  $\text{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_G)$  to the baseleaf.

The group of baseleaf preserving conformal maps of  $\mathcal{S}_G$  (which is a subgroup of the Modular group Mod(G) is identified with the commensurator group  $\operatorname{Comm}_{PSL_2(\mathbb{R})}(G)$  of G in  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$  [37], where  $\operatorname{Comm}_{PSL_2(\mathbb{R})}(G)$  consists of all  $M \in PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$  for which there exist two finite index subgroups K and H of G such that  $MKM^{-1} = H$ . There are two cases, either G is an arithmetic group in which case  $\operatorname{Comm}_{PSL_2(\mathbb{R})}(G)$  is dense in  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$  or G is not arithmetic in which case  $\operatorname{Comm}_{PSL_2(\mathbb{R})}(G)$  is a finite extension of G. In both cases, the group of conformal maps of the G-tagged solenoid  $(\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G})/G$  is infinite (because it contains G in both cases), unlike for Riemann surfaces where it is finite. (Note that G acts non-trivially on  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  even though it acts trivially on  $T(\mathbf{D}/G)$ .) Biswas and Nag [4] showed that the action of  $\operatorname{Comm}_{PSL_2(\mathbb{R})}(G)$  on the Gtagged solenoid is ergodic (with respect to the product of the hyperbolic area measure on leaves and the transverse measure) if and only if G is arithmetic. For any Fuchsian uniformizing group G of a closed Riemann surface, a Gtagged solenoid represents the lift of the complex structure on  $\mathbf{D}/G$  to  $\mathcal{S}$ . Thus, the isotropy group (in  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_G)$ ) of a marked TLC point in  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is always infinite. We showed [27] that the isotropy group of any non-TLC point in  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  is infinite as well. The basic idea was to show that the right action of the conformal covering group  $G_X$  for a non-TLC solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  commutes with the left action of  $G_X$ .

If a sequence of homeomorphisms of a closed surface converges uniformly on compact subsets to the identity, then the elements of its tail are isotopic to the identity. We showed [27] a corresponding statement for the solenoid S.

**Theorem 8.4.** Let  $S_G$  be a TLC complex solenoid and let  $f_n : S_G \to S_G$  be a sequence of baseleaf preserving quasiconformal self maps of  $S_G$  that uniformly converges to the identity map. Then there exists  $n_0$  such that  $f_n$  is homotopic to a baseleaf preserving conformal self map  $c_n : S_G \to S_G$ , for all  $n > n_0$ .

A classical result on closed surfaces states that any two homeomorphisms which are homotopic are isotopic. Moreover, any two quasiconformal maps of two Riemann surfaces (possibly geometrically infinite) which are homotopic through bounded homotopy are isotopic through bounded quasiconformal isotopy, namely the quasiconformal constants of maps in the isotopy are uniformly bounded. We showed [27] similar result for the solenoid.

**Theorem 8.5.** Let  $f : X \to Y$  and  $g : X \to Y$  be two homotopic quasiconformal maps of complex solenoids X and Y. Then f and g are isotopic by a uniformly quasiconformal isotopy.

We also considered the orbits of  $Mod(S_G)$  in  $T(S_G)$ . It is an observation of Sullivan that the Ehrenpreis conjecture is equivalent to the statement that orbits of  $Mod(S_G)$  are dense. We showed a weaker statement that orbits have accumulation points [27].

**Theorem 8.6.** There exists a dense subset of  $T(S_G)$  such that the orbit of the Modular group  $Mod(S_G)$  of any point in this subset has accumulation points in  $T(S_G)$ . This subset contains only non-TLC points.

An element h of  $Mod(S_G)$  is called *mapping class like* if h conjugates a finite index subgroup K of the base surface group G onto itself, i.e.  $hKh^{-1} = K$ . C. Odden [37] showed that if a power  $h^n$ ,  $n \neq 0$ , is mapping class like then h is mapping class like.

The Nielsen realization problem states that any finite subgroup of the Modular group of a closed surface is realized as a conformal group of a homeomorphic Riemann surface. We showed [27] a version of the Nielsen realization problem for the solenoid  $S_G$ .

**Theorem 8.7.** Any finite subgroup of  $Mod(S_G)$  is cyclic and mapping class like. Consequently, elements of  $Mod(S_G)$  which are not mapping class like are of infinite order.

### 9 The Teichmüller space of the non-compact solenoid

Let  $G < PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  be such that  $\mathbf{D}/G$  is the once punctured Modular torus.

**Definition 9.1.** The *G*-tagged non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$  is the quotient of  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  by the action of G, where  $A(z,t) := (Az, tA^{-1})$  for  $(z,t) \in \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  and  $A \in G$ .

**Definition 9.2.** An arbitrary non-compact marked complex solenoid is a complex solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  together with a differentiable, quasiconformal map  $f: \mathcal{S}_{nc} \to \mathcal{X}$  which is continuous in the transverse direction in the local charts for the  $C^1$ -topology, and whose leafwise Beltrami coefficients are continuous in the transverse direction for the essential supremum norm when nearby leaves are identified using the canonical identifications coming from the *G*-tagged TLC complex structure of  $\mathcal{S}_{nc}$ .

The requirement that Beltrami coefficients are close on the whole leaves as opposed to being close in local charts is necessary because  $S_{nc}$  is non-compact. For marked compact solenoids we obtain the same property from the continuity

in local charts because of the compactness. We introduced [36] the Teichmüller space  $T(S_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$  as follows.

**Definition 9.3.** The Teichmüller space  $T(S_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$  is the space of all differentiable, quasiconformal maps  $f: S_{nc} \to \mathcal{X}$  from the *G*-tagged solenoid to an arbitrary non-compact complex solenoid  $\mathcal{X}$  up to conformal maps of the range and up to homotopy, where f is required to be continuous in the transverse direction in the local charts in the  $C^1$ -topology and the leafwise Beltrami coefficients of f are required to vary continuously on the global leaves in the essential supremum norm when leaves are canonically identified using the *G*-tagged complex structure of  $S_{nc}$ .

The definition of  $T(S_{nc})$  is justified by the following density theorem analogous to the compact case (see [36]).

**Theorem 9.4.** The union of the lifts of the Teichmüller spaces of all finite punctured hyperbolic surfaces covering the Modular torus is dense in the Teichmüller space  $T(S_{nc})$  of the punctured solenoid  $S_{nc}$ .

We introduced a representation definition of the Teichmüller space  $T(S_{nc})$ as follows [36]. Consider the space  $\operatorname{Hom}(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$  of all functions  $\rho: G \times \hat{G} \to PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$  satisfying the following three properties:

Property 1:  $\rho$  is continuous;

Property 2 [*G*-equivariance]: for each  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in G$  and  $t \in \hat{G}$ , we have

$$\rho(\gamma_1 \circ \gamma_2, t) = \rho(\gamma_1, t\gamma_2^{-1}) \circ \rho(\gamma_2, t);$$

Property 3: for every  $t \in \hat{G}$ , there is a quasiconformal mapping  $\phi_t : \mathbf{D} \to \mathbf{D}$ depending continuously on  $t \in \hat{G}$  so that for every  $\gamma \in G$ , the following diagram commutes, where  $\rho(\gamma, t) \circ \phi_t(z) = \phi_{t\gamma^{-1}} \circ \gamma(z)$ :

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G} & \underbrace{(z,t) \mapsto (\gamma z, t\gamma^{-1})}_{\phi_t \times \mathrm{id}} & \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G} \\ \phi_t \times \mathrm{id} & \downarrow & \downarrow & \phi_{t\gamma^{-1}} \times \mathrm{id} \\ \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G} & \stackrel{(\phi_t(z),t) \mapsto (\rho(\gamma,t) \circ \phi_t(z) = \phi_{t\gamma^{-1}} \circ \gamma(z), t\gamma^{-1})}_{\longrightarrow} & \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G} \end{array}$$

Since G is discrete,  $\rho$  is continuous if and only if it is continuous in its second variable. Therefore, it is enough to require continuity in the second variable in Property 1. Property 2 is a kind of homomorphism property of  $\rho$  mixing the leaves; notice in particular that taking  $\gamma_2 = I$  gives  $\rho(I, t) = I$ 

for all  $t \in \hat{G}$ . Property 3 mandates that for each  $t \in \hat{G}$ ,  $\phi_t$  conjugates the standard action of  $\gamma \in G$  on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  at the top of the diagram to the action

$$\gamma_{\rho}: (z,t) \mapsto (\rho(\gamma,t)z,t\gamma^{-1})$$

at the bottom, and we let  $G_{\rho} = \{\gamma_{\rho} : \gamma \in G\} \approx G$ . Notice that the action of  $G_{\rho}$  on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  extends continuously to an action on  $(\mathbf{D} \cup S^1) \times \hat{G}$ . We finally define the solenoid (with marked hyperbolic structure)

$$\mathcal{S}_{\rho} = (\mathbf{D} \times_{\rho} \hat{G}) = (\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}) / G_{\rho}$$

Define the group  $\operatorname{Cont}(\hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$  to be the collection of all continuous maps  $\alpha : \hat{G} \to PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ , where the product of two  $\alpha, \beta \in \operatorname{Cont}(\hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$ is taken pointwise  $(\alpha\beta)(t) = \alpha(t) \circ \beta(t)$  in  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ .  $\alpha \in \operatorname{Cont}(\hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$ acts on  $\rho \in \operatorname{Hom}(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$  according to

$$(\alpha\rho)(\gamma,t) = \alpha(t\gamma^{-1}) \circ \rho(\gamma,t) \circ \alpha^{-1}(t)$$

We introduced the topology on  $\operatorname{Hom}(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$  as follows. Consider the natural metric d on  $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$  induced by identifying it with the unit tangent bundle of the unit disk **D**. Let  $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in \operatorname{Hom}(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$  and let  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_j \in G$  be a generating set of G. The distance between  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$ is given by

$$\max_{1 \le i \le j, \ t \in \hat{G}} d(\rho_1(\gamma_i, t), \rho_2(\gamma_i, t)).$$
(9.1)

This metric is not canonical, but any such two metrics induce the same topology.

Hom' $(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$  := Hom $(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))/\text{Cont}(\hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$  is equipped with the quotient topology of the above topology on Hom $(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$ . We showed that Hom' $(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$  is naturally homeomorphic to  $T(S_{nc})$  (see [36]).

**Theorem 9.5.** There is a natural homeomorphism of the Teichmüller space  $T(S_{nc})$  of the solenoid  $S_{nc}$  with

Hom'
$$(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R})),$$

given by assigning to each  $\rho \in \text{Hom}'(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$  the corresponding marked hyperbolic solenoid  $S_{\rho}$ .

# 10 The decorated Teichmüller space of the non-compact solenoid

We introduced [36] the decorated Teichmüller space  $\tilde{T}(S_{nc})$  of the punctured solenoid  $S_{nc}$ . Points in  $\tilde{T}(S_{nc})$  are decorations of (homotopy classes of) marked hyperbolic structures up to isometries. It is convenient to use the presentation definition of the Teichmüller space  $T(S_{nc})$  for assigning decorations to hyperbolic metrics.

Recall that a puncture on  $S_{nc}$  is an end of a single leaf of  $S_{nc}$ . Since  $S_{nc}$  is a *G*-tagged solenoid with  $G < PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  the punctured torus group, an end has an explicit description in the universal cover  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$ . Denote by  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}} \subset S^1$  the set of fixed points of the parabolic elements of *G*. Then the set of lifts to  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  of ends of  $S_{nc}$  is identified with  $\overline{\mathbf{Q}} \times \hat{G}$ .

Given a quasiconformal map  $f: S_{nc} \to \mathcal{X}$ , the images of the ends in  $S_{nc}$ are the ends of  $\mathcal{X}$ . A decoration on  $\mathcal{X}$  is easiest to understand in terms of a presentation description  $\rho \in \text{Hom}(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$ . Let  $S_{\rho}$  be a hyperbolic solenoid obtained from the representation  $\rho$  with corresponding quasiconformal map  $\phi: S_{nc} \to S_{\rho}$ .

We described [36] the punctures of  $S_{\rho}$  using the representation  $\rho$ . The quasiconformal map  $\phi : \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G} \to \mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  extends continuously to a leafwise quasi-symmetric map  $\phi : S^1 \times \hat{G} \to S^1 \times \hat{G}$ . Recall that  $\bar{\mathbf{Q}} \subset S^1$  parametrizes the endpoints of the standard triangulation of  $\mathbf{D}$  invariant under  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ . We say that a point  $(p,t) \in S^1 \times \hat{G}$  is a  $\rho$ -puncture if  $\phi^{-1}(p,t) \in \bar{\mathbf{Q}}$ , and a puncture of  $S_{\rho}$  itself is the  $G_{\rho}$ -orbit of a  $\rho$ -puncture. A  $\rho$ -horocycle at a  $\rho$ -puncture (p,t) is the horocycle in  $\mathbf{D} \times \{t\}$  centered at (p,t) and a horocycle on  $S_{\rho}$  is the  $G_{\rho}$ -orbit of a  $\rho$ -horocycle.

We introduce an identification of horocycles with points in the light cone in Minkowski three space. Recall that Minkowski three space is  $\mathbb{R}^3$  with the indefinite pairing  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  whose quadratic form is  $x^2 + y^2 - z^2$  for  $(x, y, z) \in \mathbb{R}^3$ . The upper sheet of the hyperboloid  $\mathbb{H} := \{w = (x, y, z); \langle w, w \rangle = -1, z \rangle$  $0\}$  is a model for the hyperbolic plane and rays in the positive light cone  $L^+ := \{u = (x, y, z) : \langle u, u \rangle = 0, z > 0\}$  are identified with boundary points to the hyperbolic plane. The hyperbolic distance between  $w_1, w_2 \in \mathbb{H}$  is equal to  $\cosh \langle w_1, w_2 \rangle$ . The set of horocycles in  $\mathbb{H}$  is identified with points of the positive light cone  $L^+$  by the duality  $w \mapsto \{u \in \mathbb{H}; \langle w, u \rangle = -1\}$  (see [34]). A topology on the set of horocycles is induced by the correspondence with  $L^+$ with its natural topology as a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . **Definition 10.1.** A decoration on  $S_{\rho}$ , or a "decorated hyperbolic structure" on  $S_{\rho}$ , is a function  $\tilde{\rho}: G \times \hat{G} \times \bar{\mathbf{Q}} \to PSL_2(\mathbb{R}) \times L^+$ , where

$$\tilde{\rho}(\gamma, t, q) = \rho(\gamma, t) \times h(t, q)$$

with  $\rho(\gamma, t) \in \text{Hom}(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$ , which satisfies the following conditions:

Property 4: for each  $t \in \hat{G}$ , the image  $h(t, \bar{\mathbf{Q}}) \subseteq L^+$  is discrete and the center of the horocycle h(t,q) is  $\phi_t(q)$ , for all  $(t,q) \in \hat{G} \times \bar{\mathbf{Q}}$  (using here the identification of  $L^+$  with the space of horocycles);

Property 5: for each  $q \in \overline{\mathbf{Q}}$ , the restriction  $h(\cdot, q) : \hat{G} \to L^+$  is a continuous function from  $\hat{G}$  to  $L^+$ ;

Property 6: h(t,q) is  $\rho$  invariant in the sense that

$$\rho(\gamma, t)(h(t, q)) = h(t\gamma^{-1}, \rho(\gamma, t)q).$$

We introduced [36] the decorated Teichmüller space  $\tilde{T}(S_{nc})$  as follows. Let Hom $(G \times \hat{G} \times \bar{\mathbf{Q}}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}) \times L^+)$  denote the space of all decorated hyperbolic structures satisfying the properties above. We define a topology on Hom $(G \times \hat{G} \times \bar{\mathbf{Q}}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}) \times L^+)$ . A neighborhood of  $\tilde{\rho}(\gamma, t, q) = \rho(\gamma, t) \times h(t, q)$ consists of all  $\tilde{\rho}_1(\gamma, t, q) = \rho_1(\gamma, t) \times h_1(t, q)$  such that  $\rho_1$  belongs to a chosen neighborhood of  $\rho$  in Hom $(G \times \hat{G}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}))$ , and the maps  $h_1(\cdot, q) : \hat{G} \to L^+$ and  $h(\cdot, q) : \hat{G} \to L^+$  are close in the supremum norm, for each  $q \in \bar{\mathbf{Q}}$ . The above condition and the invariance Property 6 implies that the set  $h_1(t, \bar{\mathbf{Q}})$  is close to the set  $h(t, \bar{\mathbf{Q}})$  in the Hausdorff metric, for each  $t \in \hat{G}$ .

**Definition 10.2.** The decorated Teichmüller space  $\tilde{T}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  is the quotient

$$T(\mathcal{S}_{nc}) := \operatorname{Hom}(G \times G \times \mathbf{Q}, PSL_2(\mathbb{R}) \times L^+) / \operatorname{Cont}(G, PSL_2(\mathbb{R})),$$

where  $\alpha : \hat{G} \to PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$  acts on  $\tilde{\rho}$  by

$$(\alpha\tilde{\rho})(\gamma,t,q) = \left(\alpha(t\gamma^{-1}) \circ \rho(\gamma,t) \circ \alpha^{-1}(t)\right) \times \left(\alpha(t)h(t,q)\right).$$

It is immediate that the forgetful map  $\tilde{T}(\mathcal{S}_{nc}) \to T(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  is a continuous surjection (see [36, Proposition 5.2]).

Given two horocycles in the hyperbolic plane, consider a geodesic connecting their centers. The horocycles intersect the geodesic at two points and the *lambda length* of the pair is defined as  $\sqrt{2 \exp \delta}$ , where  $\delta$  is the signed length of the arc of the geodesic between the two points (see [34], [33]). The sign of  $\delta$  is positive if the arc is outside the horoballs and it is negative if the arc is inside the horoballs. If  $u, v \in L^+$  represent the horocycles then the lambda length is given by  $\lambda(u, v) = \sqrt{-\langle u, v \rangle}$ . Let  $\tau_*$  be the Farey tesselation of the unit disk (see, for example, [33], [36], [35]). Then the vertices of  $\tau_*$  are at  $\bar{\mathbf{Q}}$  and  $\tau_* \times \hat{G}$  is a tesselation of the universal cover  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  of  $\mathcal{S}_{nc}$ . Given a decoration  $\tilde{\rho} = (\rho, h) \in \tilde{T}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$ , we consider the image tesselation  $\phi(\tau_* \times \hat{G})$  of the universal cover  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  of  $\mathcal{S}_{\rho}$ (where  $\phi$  is the union of quasiconformal maps from Property 3). Then there is an assignment of lambda length  $\lambda(e, t)$  to each edge  $(e, t), e \in \tau_*$  and  $t \in \hat{G}$ , in the tesselation  $\tau_* \times \hat{G}$  by

$$\lambda(e,t) = \lambda(h(p,t), h(q,t)),$$

where p, q are the endpoints of e. Thus we obtained a lambda length map  $\lambda : \tilde{T}(\mathcal{S}_{nc}) \to (\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*})^{\hat{G}}$ , where  $(\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*})^{\hat{G}}$  are maps from  $\hat{G}$  into the function space  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*}$  (see [36]). We consider the supremum norm over edges in  $\tau_*$  on the function space  $\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*}$ . Let  $\operatorname{Cont}(\hat{G}, \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*})$  be the space of continuous functions in the compact-open topology. In other words,

$$f \in \operatorname{Cont}(\hat{G}, \mathbb{R}^{\tau_*}_{>0})$$

 $\mathbf{i}\mathbf{f}$ 

$$\sup_{e \in \tau_*} |f(t)(e) - f(t_1)(e)| \to 0$$

as  $t \to t_1$ , for all  $t_1 \in \hat{G}$ . Moreover, we define  $\operatorname{Cont}^G(\hat{G}, \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*})$  to be the set of *G*-invariant functions f in  $\operatorname{Cont}(\hat{G}, \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*})$ , i.e.  $f \in \operatorname{Cont}^G(\hat{G}, \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*})$  if  $f \in \operatorname{Cont}(\hat{G}, \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*})$  and

$$f(tA^{-1})(A(e)) = f(t)(e),$$

for  $A \in G$  and  $t \in \hat{G}$ . We obtain [36]

**Theorem 10.3.** The assignment of lambda lengths

$$\lambda: T(\mathcal{S}_{nc}) \to \operatorname{Cont}^{G}(G, \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*})$$

is a surjective homeomorphism. Namely,  $\operatorname{Cont}^{G}(\hat{G}, \mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_{*}})$  parametrizes the decorated Teichmüller space  $\tilde{T}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$ .

A direct corollary to the above theorem is [36]:

**Corollary 10.4.** The union of the lifts of the decorated Teichmüller spaces of all finite punctured surfaces covering the Modular torus is dense in the decorated Teichmüller space  $\tilde{T}(S_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$ .

We consider the convex hull construction introduced in [15] and further utilized in [34] for punctured surfaces and in [33] for the universal Teichmüller space. The construction in [34] gives a decomposition of the decorated Teichmüller space of a punctured surface similar to [20]. Our approach is based on the universal Teichmüller space construction from [33] where the construction of [20] does not work.

A lambda length function  $f\in\mathbb{R}_{>0}^{\tau_*}$  is said to be pinched if there exists M>1 such that

$$1/M \le f(e) \le M$$

for all  $e \in \tau_*$  (see [33]). Let  $h \in (L^+)^{\bar{\mathbf{Q}}}$  and assume that the corresponding lambda length function  $\lambda : e \mapsto \lambda(h(e))$ ,  $e \in \tau_*$ , is pinched. Consider the image  $h(\bar{\mathbf{Q}}) \subset L^+$  of h and let  $\mathcal{C}(h(\bar{\mathbf{Q}}))$  denote its convex hull as a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Then the results from [33] give that  $h(\bar{\mathbf{Q}})$  is a discrete and radially dense subset of  $L^+$ . Moreover,  $h : \bar{\mathbf{Q}} \to L^+$  projects to a map  $\bar{h} : \bar{\mathbf{Q}} \to S^1$ which extends to a quasisymmetric homeomorphism of  $S^1$ . In addition, the set of faces of the boundary  $\partial \mathcal{C}(h(\bar{\mathbf{Q}}))$  of the convex hull  $\mathcal{C}(h(\bar{\mathbf{Q}}))$  consists of Euclidean polygons which meet along their boundary edges, the set of faces is locally finite and boundary edges of faces of  $\partial \mathcal{C}(h(\bar{\mathbf{Q}}))$  project to a locally finite geodesic lamination on the hyperbolic plane  $\mathbb{H}$  whose geodesics have endpoints in  $\bar{\mathbf{Q}}$  (see [33] for more details and proofs).

A decoration  $\tilde{\rho} \in \tilde{T}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid  $\mathcal{S}_{nc}$  gives a lambda length function  $\lambda(\tilde{\rho}) \in \operatorname{Cont}^{G}(\hat{G}, \mathbb{R}^{\tau_*}_{>0})$ . Namely, we obtain a Cantor set of lambda lengths  $\lambda(\tilde{\rho})(t)$  :  $\tau_* \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ , for  $t \in \hat{G}$ , and note that the lambda lengths are pinched uniformly in  $t \in \hat{G}$  by the compactness of  $\hat{G}$  and the transverse continuity of  $\tilde{\rho}$  (see [33, Lemma 6.1]). The above convex hull construction applied to each leaf  $\mathbf{D} \times \{t\}$  of the universal cover  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  gives a Cantor set of convex hulls which in turn produce a Cantor set of geodesic laminations on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  which are invariant under the action of G. Denote by  $\tau_{\tilde{\rho}}$  such obtained leafwise geodesic lamination on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$ . The endpoints of geodesics in  $\tau_{\tilde{a}}$  lie in  $\bar{\mathbf{Q}} \times \hat{G}$  and we call such geodesic lamination a *tesselation* if all complementary regions are ideal triangles. In general, the complementary regions of  $\tau_{\tilde{\rho}}$  on leaves can be arbitrary ideal hyperbolic polygons. A tesselation  $\tau$  of  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  such that the restriction to each leaf  $\tau(t) \subset \mathbf{D}, t \in \hat{G}$ , is invariant under some finite index subgroup K of G is called a *TLC tesselation*. Equivalently,  $\tau$  is a TLC tesselation of  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$  if it is a lift of a tesselation on a Riemann surface  $\mathbf{D}/K$ , for some finite index subgroup K < G.

**Definition 10.5.** Let  $\tau$  be a leafwise geodesic lamination on  $\mathbf{D} \times \hat{G}$ . Denote by  $C(\tau)$  the set of all decorations for which the convex hull construction produces  $\lambda$ , i.e.

$$C(\tau) := \{ \tilde{\rho} \in \tilde{T}(\mathcal{S}_{nc}); \partial \mathcal{C}(\lambda(\tilde{\rho})) = \tau \}.$$

We showed [36] that generically in  $\tilde{T}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  convex hull constructions yield TLC tesselations. In more details,

**Theorem 10.6.** The subset  $C(\tau)$  of  $\tilde{T}(S_{nc})$  is open for each TLC tesselation  $\tau$ , and  $\cup_{\tau} C(\tau)$  is a dense open subset of  $\tilde{T}(S_{nc})$ , where the union is over all TLC tesselations  $\tau$ .

## 11 A presentation for the Modular group of the non-compact solenoid

We define the *Modular group*  $\operatorname{Mod}(S_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$  to consist of (analogously to the compact solenoid) all quasiconformal differentiable baseleaf preserving self-maps of  $S_{nc}$  up to isotopy (see [36]). We showed [36] an appropriate version of the characterization of  $\operatorname{Mod}(S_{nc})$  similar to the compact solenoid [37]. As in Section 9, let  $G < PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  be the once punctured Modular torus group.

**Theorem 11.1.** The restriction to the baseleaf of  $Mod(S_{nc})$  gives an isomorphism of  $Mod(S_{nc})$  with the subgroup of the commensurator group of G consisting of elements which map peripheral elements onto peripheral elements.

The action of the Modular group  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  on the decorated Teichmüller space  $\tilde{T}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  preserves the decomposition into sets  $C(\tau)$ , for  $\tau$  a leafwise geodesic lamination on the solenoid, or equivalently a *G*-invariant geodesic lamination on the universal cover. It is convenient to consider TLC tesselation only. Then, as a consequence of the above theorem, the Modular group preserves the subspace of TLC tesselations. We showed [36] that an analogue of the Ehrenpreis conjecture in the decorated Teichmüller space  $\tilde{T}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  is not correct.

**Theorem 11.2.** The quotient  $\cup_{\tau} C(\tau)/MCG_{BLP}(S_{nc})$  is Hausdorff, where the union is over all TLC tesselations  $\tau$ . Moreover, no orbit under  $Mod(S_{nc})$ of a point in  $\tilde{T}(S_{nc})$  is dense.

From now on, we restrict the action of  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  to the baseleaf. Then  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  preserves the space of all TLC tesselations on **D**, i.e. it preserves the space of lifts of all ideal hyperbolic triangulations of all Riemann surfaces  $\mathbf{D}/K$ , where K < G is of finite index. The Farey tesselation  $\tau_*$  on **D** is a TLC tesselation which will be considered as a basepoint in our considerations.

We showed a transitivity statement for the family of TLC tesselations, or equivalently for the family  $\{C(\tau)\}_{\tau}$ , where  $\tau$  belongs to all TLC tesselations (see [36]).

**Theorem 11.3.** Mod( $S_{nc}$ ) acts transitively on { $C(\tau) : \tau$  is TLC}.

*Proof.* We give a brief description of the proof. It is enough to show that any TLC tesselation of the unit disk  $\mathbf{D}$  is mapped onto any other TLC tesselation of  $\mathbf{D}$  by a homeomorphism of  $S^1$  which conjugates one finite index subgroup of G onto another finite index subgroup of G. Such a homeomorphism of  $S^1$  induces an element of the commensurator group of G which preserves parabolics, and conversely any element of the commensurator group of  $S^1$ . Recall that a TLC tesselation of  $\mathbf{D}$  is a lift of an ideal triangulation of  $\mathbf{D}/K$ , where K < G is of finite index. In particular, the set of ideal vertices of the lifted TLC tesselation of  $\mathbf{D}$  is  $\overline{\mathbf{Q}}$  and the tesselation is K-invariant.

Moreover, it is enough to show that the Farey tesselation  $\tau_*$  can be mapped by a homeomorphism inducing a parabolics preserving element of the commensurator group of G onto any other TLC tesselation of **D**. Let  $\tau$  be an arbitrary TLC tesselation of  $\mathbf{D}$  which is invariant under a finite index subgroup K of G. We define a *characteristic map* for  $\tau$  by giving an identification of the edges of  $\tau_*$  and  $\tau$  as follows (see [33]). We choose the edge  $e_0$  of  $\tau_*$  which joins -1 and 1 and orient it from -1 to 1. Such a distinguished oriented edge is called a DOE. We choose an arbitrary edge e of  $\tau$  and give it an arbitrary orientation; e is a DOE of  $\tau$ . The characteristic map is built by induction. We first identify DOEs  $e_0$  and e with orientations. The construction of the map proceeds by identifying complementary ideal triangles of  $\tau_*$  and  $\tau$  according to their relative positions with respect to DOEs  $e_0$  and e; in fact, the identifications of the triangles uniquely determine an identification of the edges of  $\tau_*$  and  $\tau$ . The DOEs  $e_0 \in \tau_*$  and  $e \in \tau$  separate **D** into left and right half-disks according to their orientations. We identify the immediate left triangle  $T_0$  of  $\tau_*$  with respect to  $e_0$  to the immediate left triangle T of  $\tau$  with respect to e. This forces the identification of boundary edges of  $T_0$  and T such that the edges with endpoints at the initial points of DOEs get identified and the edges at terminal points of DOEs get identified. To proceed with the construction of the map, we give orientations to both edges of both triangles  $T_0$  and T such that the triangles are on the right of the edges. Then we continue the identifications of the triangles on the immediate left of the two edges in  $\tau_*$  with the triangles on the immediate left of the two edges in  $\tau$  as above. This process continues indefinitely on the left side of DOEs and we do similar identifications on the right side of DOEs. It is not hard to see that the characteristic map between the edges of  $\tau_*$  and  $\tau$  extends to a order preserving map h from the ideal boundary points  $\bar{\mathbf{Q}} \subset S^1$  onto itself. Then the characteristic map h extends to a homeomorphism of  $S^1$  because the ideal points of the tesselations are dense in  $S^1$  (see [36]).

We show that the characteristic map  $h: S^1 \to S^1$  conjugates a finite index subgroup H of G onto K (see [36]). Let  $\omega$  be an ideal fundamental polygon for K whose boundary edges are in  $\tau$ . Then  $h^{-1}(\omega)$  is an ideal polygon with boundary edges in  $\tau_*$ . The boundary sides of  $\omega$  are identified in pairs by elements of K and we consider the corresponding boundary sides pairs in  $h^{-1}(\omega)$ . Since  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  acts freely and transitively on the oriented edges of  $\tau_*$ , there exist unique maps in  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  which identify corresponding boundary side pairs of  $h^{-1}(\omega)$  with the correct orientation such that the quotient is homeomorphic to  $\mathbf{D}/K$ . Let H be the subgroup of  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  generated by these elements. Then h conjugates H onto K (see [36]).

We considered the isotropy group in  $\operatorname{Mod}(S_{nc})$  of a single TLC tesselation of **D**. A basic result states that any orientation preserving homeomorphism of  $S^1$  which fixes the Farey tesselation is necessarily an element of  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  (see [36, Lemma 7.3]). Then

**Theorem 11.4.** The isotropy subgroup in  $Mod(S_{nc})$  of  $\tau$ , for  $\tau$  a TLC tesselation, is quasiconformally conjugate to  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ . The isotropy subgroup of  $\tau_*$  is  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ .

Let  $\tau$  be a TLC tesselation of **D** which is invariant under K < G. Fix an edge e of  $\tau$ . Then e is on the boundary of exactly two complementary ideal triangles of  $\tau$ . The union of the two triangles is an ideal quadrilateral  $P \subset \mathbf{D}$  whose one diagonal is e. If no two edges in the set  $K\{e\}$  are immediate neighbors, then the operation of changing diagonals  $K\{e\}$  along the orbit  $K\{P\}$  of quadrilaterals is well-defined and produces a new TLC tesselation which is also invariant under K. Such an operation is called a K-equivariant Whitehead move (see [36]). This is a lift to the unit disk **D** of a classical Whitehead move on surface  $\mathbf{D}/K$  considered by Hatcher and Thurston [19], Harer [20] and Penner [34]. Penner [33] also considered Whitehead moves on **D** without the equivariance property.

The above transitivity result implies that any TLC tesselation of **D** can be mapped by an element of  $\operatorname{Mod}(S_{nc})$  to its image under an equivariant Whitehead move. An element of  $\operatorname{Mod}(S_{nc})$  which achieves this is not unique; the ambiguity is up to pre-composition by an element of  $\operatorname{Mod}(S_{nc})$  which fixes the initial tesselation. If we are given a DOE  $e_1$  on the initial TLC tesselation  $\tau$ , then a DOE  $e_2$  on the image tesselation  $\tau_1$  under a K-equivariant move on  $K\{e\}$  is determined by  $e_2 := e_1$  if  $e_1 \notin K\{e\}$ , or otherwise  $e_2 := f_1$ , where  $f_1$  is the other diagonal in the quadrilateral containing  $e_1$  oriented such that  $(e_1, f_1)$  is a positive basis at their intersection point. In this case the element of  $\operatorname{Mod}(S_{nc})$ , called the Whitehead homeomorphism, is uniquely determined by mapping DOE onto DOE. Let  $h_{\tau}$  and  $h_{\tau_1}$  be the characteristic maps for  $\tau$  and  $\tau_1$ , namely  $h_{\tau}(\tau_*) = \tau$ ,  $h_{\tau}(e_0) = e_1$ ,  $h_{\tau_1}(\tau_*) = \tau_1$  and  $h_{\tau_1}(e_0) = e_2$ , where  $e_0 = (-1, 1)$  is DOE of  $\tau_*$ . Then the above Whitehead homeomorphism is given by  $h_{\tau_1} \circ h_{\tau}^{-1}$  (see [36]).

A basic fact due to Thurston, Hatcher, Harer and Penner is that any two ideal triangulations of a punctured surface are connected by a sequence of Whitehead moves. Therefore, if two TLC tesselations are invariant under Kthen they can be connected by a sequence of K-equivariant moves. If one TLC tesselation is invariant under  $K_1$  and the other is invariant under  $K_2$  then they can be connected by  $(K_1 \cap K_2)$ -equivariant Whitehead moves (because they are both invariant under  $K_1 \cap K_2$ ). This transitivity of all equivariant Whitehead moves on the set of TLC tesselations allows us to give generators of  $Mod(S_{nc})$ (see [36]). A composition of Whitehead homeomorphisms is called *geometric* if they are all K-equivariant, for a fixed subgroup K, and they are formed from a geometric sequence of Whitehead moves. We obtained [36]

**Theorem 11.5.** Any element of the modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$  can be written as a composition  $w \circ \gamma$ , where  $\gamma \in PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  and w is a geometric composition of K-equivariant Whitehead homeomorphisms for some fixed K.

We describe a presentation of the Modular class group  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  from [6]. We first define a 2-complex called the *triangulation complex*  $\mathcal{X}$  (see [6]). The vertices are all TLC tesselations of the unit disk **D**. We already showed that  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  preserves the set of vertices  $\mathcal{X}_0$  and it acts transitively on them. The Farey tesselation  $\tau_*$  is the basepoint of  $\mathcal{X}$ .

The set of edges  $\mathcal{X}_1$  is first defined at the base point  $\tau_*$ . A vertex  $\tau \in$  $\mathcal{X}_0$  is connected to the basepoint  $\tau_*$  if  $\tau$  is obtained from  $\tau_*$  by a single Kequivariant Whitehead move, for some finite index subgroup K of G. An edge at an arbitrary  $\tau \in \mathcal{X}_0$  is the image under  $h_{\tau} \in \operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  of an edge at the basepoint. Therefore, an edge connecting arbitrary  $\tau, \tau_1 \in \mathcal{X}_0$  is obtained by a single "generalized" Whitehead move, namely the move is equivariant under a conjugate of K,  $[G:K] < \infty$ , by  $h: S^1 \to S^1$  which induces an element of Comm(G). The difference from a (regular) Whitehead move is that h conjugates a proper subgroup  $K_1$  of K onto another subgroup  $H_1$  of G and the move is along the orbit of an edge for  $hKh^{-1}$  which is not a subgroup of G. However, the generalized  $hKh^{-1}$ -equivariant Whitehead move can be decomposed into finitely many  $H_1$ -equivariant Whitehead moves. On the other hand, the image at the basepoint of an edge at an arbitrary point is necessarily obtained by a (regular) Whitehead move [6]. Thus we do not introduce new edges at the basepoint  $\tau_*$ . The set of edges  $\mathcal{X}_1$  is invariant under Mod $(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  by definition.

The two cells  $\mathcal{X}_2$  are introduced first at the basepoint  $\tau_*$ . There are three kinds of two cells.

The square two cells are defined by adding a two cell to each cycle of four edges which are based at  $\tau_*$  and have the following properties. The four edges

are given by Whitehead moves equivariant with respect to the same finite index subgroup K of G. We assume that  $e_1, e_2 \in \tau_*$  are two edges such that their corresponding orbits  $K\{e_1\}$  and  $K\{e_2\}$  have no pairs (whose one element is from  $K\{e_1\}$  and the other is from  $K\{e_2\}$ ) of adjacent edges in  $\tau_*$ . (Since we take a K-equivariant Whitehead move for  $e_i$ , we implicitly assume that orbit  $K\{e_i\} \subset \tau_*$  does not have adjacent edges in  $\tau_*$ , for i = 1, 2.) Let  $f_1, f_2$  be the other diagonals in the two quadrilaterals in  $(\mathbf{D} - \tau_*) \cup \{e_1\}, (\mathbf{D} - \tau_*) \cup \{e_2\}$ containing  $e_1, e_2$ . Then we form a TLC tesselation  $\tau_1$  by performing a Kequivariant Whitehead move on  $\tau_*$  along  $e_1$ ; we form a TLC tesselation  $\tau_2$  by performing a K-equivariant Whitehead move on  $\tau_1$  along  $e_2$ ; we form a TLC tesselation  $\tau_3$  by performing a K-equivariant Whitehead move on  $\tau_3$ along  $f_2$ . The corresponding edges  $E_1 = (\tau_*, \tau_1), E_2 = (\tau_1, \tau_2), E_3 = (\tau_2, \tau_3)$ and  $E_4 = (\tau_3, \tau_*)$  make a closed path. We add a square two cell to  $\mathcal{X}$  whose boundary is the above closed edge path.

The pentagon two cells are defined by adding a two cell whose boundary is a closed edge path of length five as follows. Let K be a finite index subgroup of G and let  $e_1, e_2$  be two adjacent edges in  $\tau_*$ . Assume that  $e_1 \notin K\{e_2\}$ . Let P be the pentagon in  $(\mathbf{D} - \tau_*) \cup \{e_1, e_2\}$ ; the orbit of pentagons  $K\{P\}$ has pairwise mutually disjoint interiors with possible identifications of their boundaries. We define a closed edge path of length five by Whitehead moves:  $E_1$  is given by a Whitehead move along  $K\{e_1\}$  where  $K\{e_1\} \mapsto K\{f_1\}$ ;  $E_2$  is given by a Whitehead move along  $K\{e_2\}$  where  $K\{e_2\} \mapsto K\{f_2\}$ ;  $E_3$  is given by a Whitehead move along  $K\{f_1\}$  where  $K\{f_1\} \mapsto K\{f_3\}$ ;  $E_4$  is given by a Whitehead move along  $K\{f_2\}$  where  $K\{f_2\} \mapsto K\{e_1\}$ ; and  $E_5$  is given by a Whitehead move along  $K\{f_3\}$  where  $K\{f_3\} \mapsto K\{e_2\}$  (this is the classical pentagon relation on a surface lifted to  $\mathbf{D}$ ; see, for example, [34],[33],[36]). We add a pentagon two cell whose boundary is such an edge path.

The coset two cells are defined by subdividing a single equivariant Whitehead move into several equivariant Whitehead moves as follows. Let K be a finite index subgroup of G and let  $K_1$  be a finite index subgroup of K. Let  $e \in \tau_*$  be such that no two edges in the orbit  $K\{e\}$  are adjacent in  $\tau_*$ . The long edge E is given by K-equivariant Whitehead move along  $K\{e\}$ . The short edges are given by  $K_1$ -equivariant Whitehead moves as follows. Since  $k := [K : K_1] < \infty$ , there exists finitely many  $e_1, e_2, \ldots, e_k \in K\{e\}$  such that  $e_i \notin K_1\{e_j\}$ , for  $i \neq j$ , and  $\cup_{i=1}^k K_1\{e_i\} = K\{e\}$ . We define a sequence of short edges  $E_1, \ldots E_k$  by  $E_i = (\tau_{i-1}, \tau_i)$ , where  $\tau_i$ , for  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$ , is obtained from  $\tau_{i-1}$  by performing a  $K_1$ -equivariant Whitehead move on  $\tau_{i-1}$ along  $K_1\{e_i\}$  and  $\tau_0 = \tau_*$ . The edge path  $E_1, E_2, \ldots, E_k$  starts at  $\tau_*$  and ends at the endpoint of E. Thus  $E_1, \ldots, E_k, E$  is a closed edge path based at  $\tau_*$ and we add a coset two cell whose boundary is the given path (see [6]).

A general two cell in  $\mathcal{X}$  is the image under  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  of a two cell based at  $\tau_*$ . It turns out that an image of a square or a pentagon two cell based at  $\tau_*$  under  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  whose one vertex on its boundary is  $\tau_*$  is of the same form as above. Namely, all the edges are Whitehead moves equivariant under a subgroup of  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ , while an image of a coset two cell under  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$ has generalized Whitehead moves as edges whenever the long edge does not limit at  $\tau_*$ . It may happen that two short edges limit at  $\tau_*$ . The Modular group  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  preserves the set of two cells  $\mathcal{X}_2$  by its definition (see [6]).

We showed that the triangulation complex is simply connected [6].

**Theorem 11.6.** The Modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$  acts cellularly on the triangulation complex  $\mathcal{X}$ . The triangulation complex  $\mathcal{X}$  is connected and simply connected.

We gave [6] a presentation of the Modular group  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  using its action on  $\mathcal{X}$ . We already showed that  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  acts transitively on the vertices of  $\mathcal{X}$  and that the isotropy group of  $\tau_*$  is  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ . Therefore, each orbit of an edge contains an edge with one endpoint at  $\tau_*$ . To give a presentation, it is necessary to find the isotropy groups of edges. There are two types of edges with one endpoint in  $\tau_*$ , the set  $\mathcal{E}^+$  of edges which are not inverted by the action of  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  and the set of edges  $\mathcal{E}^-$  which are inverted by the action of  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$ . If  $E \in \mathcal{E}^+$  is obtained by a K-equivariant Whitehead move then the isotropy group of E has to be contained in  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  and it contains K. In fact, the isotropy group of E is a finite extension K' of K by elliptic elements in  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  which preserve the other vertex  $\tau$  of the edge  $E = (\tau_*, \tau)$ . Let  $E_1 = (\tau_*, \tau_1) \in \mathcal{E}^-$  be an edge reversed by  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$ , where  $\tau_1$  is obtained by a  $K_1$ -equivariant Whitehead move and fixed by  $K'_1 > K$ . Then the isotropy group of  $E_1$  is generated by  $K'_1 < PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  which does not reverse the orientation of  $E_1$  and by  $k \in Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  which reverses the orientation, where k is mapping class like (i.e. k conjugates a finite index subgroup of G onto itself) and  $k^2 \in K'_1 - K_1$  is elliptic fixing an edge in  $\tau_*$ which implies  $k^4 = id$  (see [6]).

We choose a single Whitehead move for each edge  $E = (\tau_*, \tau)$  starting at  $\tau_*$  by taking  $e_0 = (-1, 1)$  to be a DOE of  $\tau_*$  and defining a DOE of the other vertex  $\tau$  as above. The set of these Whitehead moves together with  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  generate  $Mod(S_{nc})$ . We describe relations coming from two cells in  $\mathcal{X}$  for the chosen generating set.

Let Q be a square two cell based at  $\tau_*$  with edges  $E_i = (\tau_{i-1}, \tau_i)$ , for  $i = 1, \ldots, 4$ , with  $\tau_0 = \tau_4 = \tau_*$  such that  $\tau_i$  are K-equivariant. Let  $h_1 \in Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  be the Whitehead homeomorphism corresponding to  $E_1$ ,  $h_2$  the Whitehead homeomorphism corresponding to the edge  $E'_2 = (\tau_*, h_1^{-1}(\tau_*)), h_3$ 

the Whitehead homeomorphism corresponding to the edge  $E'_3 = (\tau_*, (h_1 \circ h_2)^{-1}(\tau_*))$ , and  $h_4$  the Whitehead homeomorphism corresponding to the edge  $E'_4 = (\tau_*, (h_1 \circ h_2 \circ h_3)^{-1}(\tau_*))$ . If  $e_0 \notin K\{e_1, e_2\}$ , where  $K\{e_1\}$  and  $K\{e_2\}$  are orbits which get changed in the definition of Q, then  $h_1 \circ \cdots \circ h_4(e_0) = e_0$  which implies that

$$h_1 \circ \dots \circ h_4 = id. \tag{11.1}$$

If  $e_0 \in K\{e_1, e_2\}$  then  $h_1 \circ \cdots \circ h_4(e_0) = \bar{e}_0$ , where  $\bar{e}_0$  is the opposite orientation of  $e_0$ , which implies that

$$h_1 \circ \dots \circ h_4 = s_{e_0},\tag{11.2}$$

where  $s_{e_0} \in PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  is an elliptic element reversing the orientation of  $e_0$ .

Let P be a pentagon two cell based at  $\tau_*$  with boundary edge path  $E_i = (\tau_{i-1}, \tau_i)$ , for  $i = 1, \ldots, 5$ , where  $\tau_0 = \tau_5 = \tau_*$  and  $\tau_i$  are K-equivariant. Let  $K\{e_1, e_2\}$  be the orbits which get changed to obtain P. Let  $h_i$  be the Whitehead move corresponding to  $(h_1 \circ \cdots \circ h_{i-1})^{-1}(E_i)$  as defined above. Then we have a pentagon relation

$$h_1 \circ \dots \circ h_5 = id, \tag{11.3}$$

whenever  $e_0 \notin K\{e_1, e_2\}$ . We get

$$h_1 \circ \dots \circ h_5 = \gamma_{e_0, \bar{e}_2},\tag{11.4}$$

when  $e_0 \in K\{e_1\}$ , where  $\gamma_{e_0,\bar{e}_2}$  maps  $e_0$  onto  $\bar{e}_2$ . Finally, we get

$$h_1 \circ \dots \circ h_5 = \gamma_{e_0,\bar{e}_1},\tag{11.5}$$

when  $e_0 \in K\{e_2\}$ , where  $\gamma_{e_0,\bar{e}_1}$  maps  $e_0$  onto  $\bar{e}_1$ .

Let C be a coset two cell given by a long edge determined by Whitehead move along  $K\{e\}$  and by short edges with respect to  $K_1 < K$ , where  $k = [K : K_1] < \infty$ . We note that given  $K_1$ , there are k! paths of short edges connecting the two endpoints of the long edge. If  $e_0 \notin K\{e\}$  then we obtain a coset relation

$$h \circ h_1 \circ \dots \circ h_k = id, \tag{11.6}$$

where h is the Whitehead homeomorphism corresponding to the long edge and  $h_i$  is the Whitehead homeomorphism corresponding to the image  $(h \circ h_1 \circ \cdots \circ h_{i-1})^{-1}(E_i)$  of the *i*-th short edge  $E_i$ . If  $e_0 \in K\{e\}$  then we obtain coset relation

$$h \circ h_1 \circ \dots \circ h_k = s_{e_0},\tag{11.7}$$

where  $s_{e_0} \in PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  reverses the orientation of  $e_0$ .

We obtained [6] a presentation for  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  as follows.

**Theorem 11.7.** The modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$  is generated by the isotropy subgroup  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  of the basepoint  $\tau_* \in \mathcal{X}$ , the isotropy subgroups  $\Gamma(E)$  for  $E \in \mathcal{E}^{\pm}$ , and by the Whitehead homeomorphism  $g_E$  for  $E \in \mathcal{E}^+$  chosen as above. The following relations on these generators give a complete presentation of  $Mod(S_{nc})$ :

a) The inclusions of  $\Gamma(E)$  into  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ , for  $E \in \mathcal{E}^+$ , are given by  $\Gamma(E) = K'$ , where the terminal endpoint of E is invariant under the finite-index subgroup  $K' < PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ ;

b) The inclusions of  $\Gamma^+(E)$  into  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ , for  $E \in \mathcal{E}^-$ , are given by  $\Gamma(E) = K'$ , where the terminal endpoint of E is invariant under the finite-index subgroup  $K' < PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ ;

c) The relations introduced by the boundary edge-paths of two-cells in  $\mathcal{F}$  given by the equations (11.3), (11.4), (11.5), (11.1), (11.2), (11.6) and (11.7);

d) The redundancy relations: for any two edges E and E' in  $\mathcal{E}^{\pm}$  and for any  $\gamma \in PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  such that  $\gamma(E) = E'$ , we get the relation

 $g_{E'} \circ \gamma' = \gamma \circ g_E,$ 

where  $\gamma'$  is the unique element of  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  that satisfies  $\gamma'(e_0) = e'_1$  with  $e'_1 = g_{E'}^{-1}(\gamma(e_0))$ .

**Remark 11.8.** The redundancy relations d) in the above theorem are introduced because we used more generators than necessary. We could have used Whitehead homeomorphisms of representatives of orbits of edges based at  $\tau_*$ instead. Then we would not have to add relations d). However, it is not easy to give a proper enumeration of such orbits which would necessarily complicate the relations in c). Thus, for the sake of simplicity of relations, we used a larger set of generators in the above theorem.

We also showed [6] that  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  has no center.

**Theorem 11.9.** The modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$  of the punctured solenoid  $S_{nc}$  has trivial center.

## 12 Elements of $Mod(S_{nc})$ with small non-zero dilatations

In a recent joint work with V. Markovic [28], we showed the following

**Theorem 12.1.** For every  $\epsilon > 0$  there exist two finite index subgroups of  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  which are conjugated by a  $(1 + \epsilon)$ -quasisymmetric homeomorphism of the unit circle and this conjugation homeomorphism is not conformal.

To construct the above groups and the quasisymmetric map, we use the generators of the modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$  introduced in [36] (see also the proof of Theorem 11.3).

We obtained [28] the following corollary to the above theorem.

**Corollary 12.2.** Let  $T_0$  denote the Modular torus. Then for every  $\epsilon > 0$  there are finite degree, regular coverings  $\pi_1 : M_1 \to T_0$  and  $\pi_2 : M_2 \to T_0$ , and a  $(1 + \epsilon)$ -quasiconformal homeomorphism  $F : M_1 \to M_2$  that is not homotopic to a conformal map.

The following corollary is an interpretation of Theorem 12.1 in terms of the Teichmüller space  $T(S_{nc})$  of the non-compact solenoid  $S_{nc}$ . This is a significant progress in understanding the quotient  $T(S_{nc})/Mod(S_{nc})$ .

**Corollary 12.3.** The closure in the Teichmüller metric of the orbit (under the Modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$ ) of the basepoint in  $T(S_{nc})$  is strictly larger than the orbit. Moreover, the closure of this orbit is uncountable.

### 13 Some open problems

We discuss some open question concerning the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  and the Modular group  $\operatorname{Mod}(\mathcal{S}_G)$  of the solenoid.

As we already mentioned, a conjecture by L. Ehrenpreis states that given any two closed Riemann surfaces of genus at least two and given any  $\epsilon > 0$  there exist unbranched, finite sheeted, holomorphic covers of these surfaces that are  $(1 + \epsilon)$ -quasiconformal. D. Sullivan gave the following equivalent formulation in terms of the compact solenoid:

1. Is it true that the Modular group  $Mod(S_G)$  has dense orbits in the Teichmüller space  $T(S_G)$  of the compact solenoid  $S_G$ ?

We also considered the Teichmüller space  $T(S_{nc})$  and the Modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$  of the noncompact solenoid  $S_{nc}$ . Therefore we can ask the analogous question in this setup:

2. Is it true that the Modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$  has dense orbits in the Teichmüller space  $T(S_{nc})$  of the noncompact solenoid  $S_{nc}$ ?

It is interesting to note that a positive answer to question 1 does not immediately give a positive answer to question 2. This is easiest to understand in terms of the original formulation by Ehrenpreis. To see this, assume for the

moment that any two closed surfaces have unbranched, finite sheeted, holomorphic covers which are quasiconformal with arbitrary small dilatation. When considering two punctured surfaces, one is tempted to fill in the punctures and find unbranched holomorphic covers of the compactified surfaces which are quasiconformal with small dilatation. However, the problem is that the quasiconformal map does not necessarily send the lifts of the punctures on one surface to the lifts of the punctures on the other surface.

We considered the Teichmüller metric on  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  and the existence of geodesics between points. If a map is of Teichmüller-type then we showed that it is extremal and that there is a unique geodesic between the point determined by the Teichmüller-type map and the base point of  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ . Moreover, we showed that only a small subset of  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  has Teichmüller-type representative. We ask

3. Is it true that any point in the Teichmüller space  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  has an (unique) extremal representative?

If the answer is positive, then any two points are connected by a (unique) geodesic. Even if the answer is negative, it is still possible to have geodesics connecting a point in  $T(S_G)$  without an extremal representative to the base point.

#### 4. Is it possible to connect any two points in $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$ by a (unique) geodesic?

We also established a sufficient condition for a point in  $T(S_G)$  to have a Teichmüller-type representative. The condition is given in terms of the approximating sequence of TLC structures. We ask for additional sufficient conditions.

5. Is there a sufficient condition for a point  $[f] \in T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  expressed only in terms of the geometry of the point [f] to have a Teichmüller-type representative?

A classical statement about duality of the cotangent and tangent space for Teichmüller spaces of Riemann surfaces is false for  $T(S_G)$ . We therefore ask

6. Does the tangent space  $L_s^{\infty}(\mathcal{S}_G)/N(\mathcal{S}_G)$  at the basepoint of  $T(\mathcal{S}_G)$  have a pre-dual?

It is a classical fact that any biholomorphic map of the Teichmüller space of a finite Riemann surface is given by the geometric action of an element of the extended mapping class group. This is recently proved for all infinite Riemann surfaces as well [26] (see also [16], [40], [11], [10], [22]). We ask analogous question of  $T(S_G)$ . 7. Does every biholomorphism (isometry) of  $T(S_G)$  arise by the geometric action of the full mapping class group  $\operatorname{Mod}_{full}(S_G)$  (i.e. homotopy classes of self maps of  $S_G$  not necessarily fixing the baseleaf and allowing orientation reversing elements)?

We considered the Modular group  $Mod(S_{nc})$  of the noncompact solenoid  $S_{nc}$  and found an explicit set of generators and a presentation. We ask the analogous question for the compact solenoid.

- 8. Find an explicit set of generators of  $Mod(S_G)$  of the compact solenoid  $S_G$ .
- 9. Find a presentation of  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_G)$ .

We expect that these modular groups are infinitely generated.

10. Show that  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_G)$  and  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  are infinitely generated.

Recall that an element of  $Mod(S_G)$  is called a mapping class like if it is a lift of a self map of a closed surface. C. Odden [37] asked the following question:

11. Is it true that  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_G)$  and  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_{nc})$  are generated by mapping class like elements?

Study properties of  $Mod(\mathcal{S}_G)$ . In particular,

12. Is there a classification of the elements of  $Mod(S_G)$  according to their actions on  $S_G$  similar to the Thurston's classification of the mapping class group elements of a closed surface?

## References

- L. V. Ahlfors and L. Bers, Riemann's Mapping Theorem for Variable Metrics, Ann. Math., 72 (1960), no. 2, 385–404.
- [2] R. Baer, Isotopien auf Kurven von orientierbaren, geschlossenen Flächen, J. Reine Angew. Math., Bd. 159 (1928), 101-116.
- [3] I. Biswas and S. Nag, Weil-Petersson geometry and determinant bundles on inductive limits of moduli spaces, Lipa's legacy (New York, 1995), 51–80, Contemp. Math., 211, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997.
- [4] I. Biswas and S. Nag, Limit constructions over Riemann surfaces and their parameter spaces, and the commensurability group actions, *Sel. math.*, New ser. 6 (2000) 185-224.

- [5] I. Biswas, S. Nag and D. Sullivan, Determinant bundles, Quillen metrics and Mumford isomorphisms over the universal Commensurability Teichmller space, *Acta Math.* 176 (1996), no. 2, 145–169.
- [6] S. Bonnot, R. C. Penner and D. Šarić, A presentation for the baseleaf preserving mapping class group of the punctured solenoid, to appear in: Algebr. Geom. Topol., available at arXiv:math/0608066.
- [7] A. Candel, Uniformization of surface laminations, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 26 (1993), no. 4, 489-516.
- [8] M. Dehn, Papers on group theory and topology, Translated from the German and with introductions and an appendix by John Stillwell, With an appendix by Otto Schreier, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1987. viii+396 pp..
- [9] A. Douady and C. J. Earle, Conformally natural extension of homeomorphisms of the circle, Acta Math. 157 (1986), no. 1-2, 23-48.
- [10] C. Earle and F. Gardiner, Geometric isomorphisms between infinite-dimensional Teichmüller spaces, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 348 (1996), no. 3, 1163-1190.
- [11] C. Earle and I. Kra, On holomorphic mappings between Teichmller spaces, Contributions to analysis (a collection of papers dedicated to Lipman Bers), pp. 107-124. Academic Press, New York, 1974.
- [12] C. Earle and C. McMullen, Quasiconformal isotopies, In Holomorphic Functions and Moduli I, pages 143-154, Springer-Verlag: MSRI publications volume 10, 1988.
- [13] L. Ehrenpreis, Cohomology with bounds, in Symposia Mathematics IV, Academic Press, 389-395, 1970.
- Šarić, [14] A. Epstein, V. Markovic and D. Extremal maps for hyperbolic the universal solenoid. preprint, available at arxiv: http://www.arxiv.org/abs/math.DS/0604411.
- [15] D. B. A. Epstein and R. C. Penner, Euclidean decompositions of non-compact hyperbolic manifolds, J. Diff. Geom. 27 (1988) 67–80.
- [16] A. Fletcher and V. Markovic, Infinite dimensional Teichmüller spaces, In: Handbook of Teichmüller theory (A. Papadopoulos ed.), Volume II, EMS Publishing House, Zürich 2008.
- [17] F. Gardiner, Teichmller theory and quadratic differentials, Pure and Applied Mathematics (New York), A Wiley-Interscience Publication, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1987.
- [18] F. Gardiner and N. Lakic, Quasiconformal Teichmller theory, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, 76. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2000.
- [19] A. Hatcher and W. Thurston, A presentation for the mapping class group of a closed orientable surface, *Top.* 19, 221-237 (1980).
- [20] J. Harer, The virtual cohomological dimension of the mapping class group of an orientable surface, *Invent. Math.* 84 (1986) 157-176.
- [21] N. Lakic, Strebel points, Contemp. Math. 211 (1997), 417-431.

- [22] N. Lakic, An isometry theorem for quadratic differentials on Riemann surfaces of finite genus, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 349 (1997), no. 7, 2951-2967.
- [23] M. Lyubich and Y. Minsky, Laminations in holomorphic dynamics, J. Diff. Geom., v. 47 (1997), 17-94.
- [24] A. Marden and K. Strebel, The heights theorem for quadratic differentials on Riemann surfaces, Acta Math. 153 (1984), no. 3-4, 153-211.
- [25] D. Margalit and C. Leininger, Abstract commensurators of braid groups, Journal of Algebra 299 (2) 447-455, 2006.
- [26] V. Markovic, Biholomorphic maps between Teichmüller spaces, Duke Math. J. 120 (2003), no. 2, 405–431.
- [27] V. Markovic and D. Šarić, Teichmüller Mapping Class Group of the Universal Hyperbolic Solenoid, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, Vol. 358, no. 6, 2637-2650.
- [28] V. Markovic and D. Šarić, The Teichmüller distance between finite index subgroups of  $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ , submitted for publication, available at arXiv:0707.0308.
- [29] C. McMullen, Amenability, Poincaré series and quasiconformal maps, *Invent. Math.*, 91 (1988) 259-272.
- [30] C. McMulen, Thermodynamics, dimension and the Weil-Petersson metric, *preprint*, available at: http://www.math.harvard.edu/ ctm/papers/index.html.
- [31] S. Nag and D. Sullivan, Teichmüller theory and the universal period mappings via quantum calculus and the  $H^{1/2}$  space of the circle, Osaka J. Math. 32, (1995), 1-34.
- [32] J. Nielsen, Untersuchungen zur Theorie der geschlossenen zweiseitigen Flächen I, Acta Math. V. 50 (1927), 189-358.
- [33] R. C. Penner, Universal constructions in Teichmüller theory, Adv. Math 98, (1993), 143-215.
- [34] R. C. Penner, The decorated Teichmüller space of punctured surfaces, Comm. Math. Phys. 113, (1987), 299-339.
- [35] R. C. Penner, Surfaces, circles and solenoids, In: Handbook of Teichmüller spaces (A. Papadopoulos, ed.) Volume I, EMS Publishing House, Zürich 2007, p. 205-221.
- [36] R. C. Penner and D. Šarić, Teichmüller theory of the punctured solenoid, to appear in: Geom. Dedicata, available at arXiv:math/0508476.
- [37] C. Odden, The baseleaf preserving mapping class group of the universal hyperbolic solenoid, *Trans. Amer. Math Soc.* 357, (2004) 1829-1858.
- [38] E. Reich and K. Strebel, Teichmüller mappings which keep the boundary pointwise fixed, 1971 Advances in the Theory of Riemann Surfaces (Proc. Conf., Stony Brook, N.Y., 1969) pp. 365–367 Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J.
- [39] E. Reich and K. Strebel, Extremal quasiconformal mappings with given boundary values, *Contributions to analysis* (a collection of papers dedicated to Lipman Bers), pp. 375–391. Academic Press, New York, 1974.

- [40] H. Royden, Automorphisms and isometries of Teichmüller space, 1971 Advances in the Theory of Riemann Surfaces, (Proc. Conf., Stony Brook, N.Y., 1969) pp. 369-383 Ann. of Math. Studies, No. 66. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J.
- [41] D. Šarić, On Quasiconformal Deformations of the Universal Hyperbolic Solenoid, to appear in J. Anal. Math., available at: www.math.sunysb.edu/~ saric.
- [42] K. Strebel, Quadratic differentials, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], 5, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984.
- [43] D. Sullivan, Linking the universalities of Milnor-Thurston, Feigenbaum and Ahlfors-Bers, Milnor Festschrift, Topological methods in modern mathematics (L. Goldberg and A. Phillips, eds.), Publish or Perish, 1993, 543-563.
- [44] D. Sullivan, Bounds, quadratic differentials, and renormalization conjectures, Mathematics into the Twenty-first Century, Volume 2, Providence, RI, Amer. Math. Soc., 1992.